
 

The Board of Commissioners reserves the right to continue the meeting to another time and place in the event the number of people in attendance at the 

meeting, including the Board of Commissioners, staff, and members of the public exceeds the legal limits.  The meeting cannot be closed to the public 
except by a majority vote of a quorum present for the meeting.  The board can vote to go into an executive session on a legally exempt matter during a 

public meeting even if not advertised or listed on the agenda.  Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them 

to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are required to contact the 
ADA Compliance Officer, at least three business days in advance of the meeting at 706-485-2776 to allow the County to make reasonable 

accommodations for those persons. 

 

Page 1 of 2 

PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
 

117 Putnam Drive, Suite A ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 
 

Agenda 

Friday, July 10, 2020 ◊ 9:00 AM 

Putnam County Administration Building – Room 203 

 

Opening 
1. Welcome - Call to Order 

2. Approval of Agenda 

3. Invocation 

4. Pledge of Allegiance (DB) 

5. Special Presentations 

a. Retirement Proclamation - Everette Bowen 

b. Chamber of Commerce Tourism Presentation 

 

Code of Ordinances Public Hearing 
6. Proposed adoption of changes to the Putnam County Code of Ordinances - Chapter 53 (Solar 

Energy) 

 

Regular Business Meeting 
7. Public Comments 

8. Consent Agenda 

a. Approval of Minutes - June 16, 2020 Regular Meeting (staff-CC) 

b. Authorization for Chairman to sign Revised Putnam County Transit Procurement Manual 

(staff-CC/Transit) 

9. Request by Canal Wood for Waiver of Interest and Penalties (staff-TC) 

10. Request by John Culpepper to appeal the Planning & Zoning Commission decision of June 10, 

2020 for a rear yard setback variance at 145 Collis Marina Road (staff-P&D) 

11. Request by Pete Wardlaw to appeal the Planning & Zoning Commission decision of June 4, 

2020 to rezone 57 acres to RM3 (staff-P&D) 

12. Request to begin process to abandon a portion of Little-Minton Road (BW) 

13. Authorization for Chairman to sign Memorandum of Understanding between the Board of 

Regents of the University System of Georgia by and on behalf of the University of Georgia 

Cooperative Extension and Putnam County (staff-CM) 

14. Authorization for staff to schedule a public hearing on proposed changes to the Putnam County 

Code of Ordinances - Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages) (staff-CC) 

15. Discussion and possible action on LMIG roads (staff-CM) 

a. Approval of change in scope 

b. Awarding of change order/revised scope to Pittman's contract for LMIG 2020 

16. Discussion and possible action on Cabins for Oconee Springs Park (staff-CM) 

1



 

The Board of Commissioners reserves the right to continue the meeting to another time and place in the event the number of people in attendance at the 

meeting, including the Board of Commissioners, staff, and members of the public exceeds the legal limits.  The meeting cannot be closed to the public 
except by a majority vote of a quorum present for the meeting.  The board can vote to go into an executive session on a legally exempt matter during a 

public meeting even if not advertised or listed on the agenda.  Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them 

to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are required to contact the 
ADA Compliance Officer, at least three business days in advance of the meeting at 706-485-2776 to allow the County to make reasonable 

accommodations for those persons. 

 

Page 2 of 2 

17. Discussion and possible action regarding the BER office relocation (BW) 

18. Consideration and possible action regarding directing staff to initiate rezoning of parcels Map 

104B013 & Map 104B014 from RM-2 to R-1 (staff-CA/P&D) 

19. Set Qualifying Fees for 2020 General Election (staff-CC/Fin) 

20. Appointment to the Planning and Zoning Commission - District Four (staff-CC) 

21. Appointment to the Putnam County Department of Family and Children Services Board (staff-

CC) 

22. Recommendations for Appointment to the Central Georgia Region 5 Emergency Medical 

Services Council (staff-CC) 

23. Discussion and possible action on Retirement recognitions (staff-CC) 

 

Reports/Announcements 
24. County Manager Report 

25. County Attorney Report 

26. Commissioner Announcements 

 

Closing 
27. Adjournment 

2



File Attachments for Item:

6. Proposed adoption of changes to the Putnam County Code of Ordinances - Chapter 53 (Solar Energy)

3



TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

EXPLANATION OF DOCUMENTS: 
 

Red language equals added text. 
Struck through language equals deleted text. 

 
 
Chapter 53: Solar Energy 

 
Sec. 53-1 Purpose  

The purpose of this ordinance is to facilitate the siting, construction, installation, and 
decommissioning of solar energy systems (SESs) in Putnam County in a manner that 
encourages local economic development and protects the health, safety, and welfare 

of the citizens of Putnam County and at the same time mitigates any adverse impacts 
to wildlife, agricultural lands, forests, and other natural landscapes. 

 
The intent of this ordinance is  to increase energy security, to promote the use of 
Georgia-based energy resources, to decrease the cost of energy, to bolster local 

economic development and employment prospects, to increase consumers’ choices 
in energy consumption, to encourage the use of a renewable energy resource, to 

support [Georgia’s/County’s/City’s] sustainability agenda, and to reduce air and 
water pollution. 

 
A solar energy system shall be permitted in any zoning district as an accessory use, 
subject to specific criteria as set forth below. Where general standards and specific 

criteria overlap, specific criteria shall supersede general standards. 
 

Sec. 53-2 Definitions  
 Accessory Use: A subordinate building or use which is customarily incidental to the 

principal use or building, and which is located on the same lot with the principal use 

or building, as defined in Section 66-20 of this code.  
 

 Battery Back-Up: A battery system that stores electrical energy from a solar PV 
system, making the electricity available for future use. 

  

 Building-Integrated System: Any solar energy system consisting of solar panels that 
are used to replace conventional building materials in parts of the building 

envelope or architectural features such as the roof, skylights, windows, awnings, or 
facades. 

 

Combiner or Junction Box: A unit or device where inputs from multiple strings of solar 
panels (or micro-inverters) are combined into one output circuit. 

 
  Crystalline Silicon Cells: Solar photovoltaic cells fashioned from either mono-

crystalline, multi-crystalline, or ribbon silicon capable of converting sunlight into 

electricity. 
  

 Distributed Solar: Any solar energy systems located on-site and designed to serve 
the energy needs of the building, structure, or facility to which it is connected.  

4



TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

  Grid-tied Solar: Any solar PV system that is interconnected with the utility grid via 
interconnection agreements with the utility.  

  
 Electricity Generation (aka production, output): The amount of electric energy 

produced by transforming other forms of energy, commonly expressed in kilowatt-
hours (kWh) or megawatt-hours (MWh). 

 

 Electrical Equipment:  Any device associated with a solar energy system, such as an 
inverter, disconnect switch, or rapid shutdown device. 

  
 Grid-tied Solar Photovoltaic Systems (aka grid-tied PV, on-grid, grid-connected, 

utility-interactive, grid-intertied, or grid-direct): Any solar photovoltaic electricity 

generation systems designed to serve the electricity needs of the building to which it 
is connected, thus offsetting a home’s or business’s electricity usage, including, but 

not limited to PV panels, inverter(s), and required electrical safety equipment. 
 
 Ground-Mount System: Any solar energy system that is directly installed on 

specialized solar racking systems, which are attached to an anchor in the ground.  
 Hybrid Solar Photovoltaic Systems (aka grid-tied PV with battery back-up): Any solar 

photovoltaic electricity generation systems designed to serve the electricity needs of 
the building to which it is connected, thus offsetting a home’s or business’s electricity 

usage, while also utilizing a battery back-up in the event of a power outage, including, 
but not limited to PV panels, inverter(s), and required electrical safety equipment, 
battery bank, and a charge controller.  

  
 Inverter: Any device that converts the Direct Current (DC) electricity produced by a 

solar photovoltaic system to alternating current (AC).  
   
 Mounting: The manner in which solar PV panels are affixed to the roof or ground (i.e. 

roof mount, ground mount, pole mount, or building integrated).  
     

 Net Metering: The billing arrangement that allows electricity customers with grid-
connected solar electricity systems to receive credit for any excess electricity 
generated on-site and provided to the utility grid. 

  
 Off-Grid Solar Photovoltaic Systems with Battery Back-Up: Any solar photovoltaic 

electricity systems designed to operate fully independent from the local utility grid 
and provide electricity to a home, building, boat, RV, or other independent electrical 
load, including, but not limited to PV panels, battery bank, a charge controller, 

inverter(s), required disconnects, and associated electrical safety equipment.  
 

 Orientation (or Azimuth): Orientation is the position of an object (such as a solar 
array) or structure (such as a residential home) in relation to another object (in this 
case the sun’s path through the sky). In the northern hemisphere, true solar south 

is the optimal direction for maximizing the power output of solar PV. Although, 
systems can be oriented east, southeast, southwest, and west, while still providing a 

significant percentage of maximum production, depending on the tilt.  Proper 

5



TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

orientation and access to sun are critical for achieving maximum energy production 
potential.   

 
 Passive Solar: Techniques, design, and materials designed to take advantage of the 

sun’s position (and the local climate) throughout the year to heat, cool, and light a 
building with the sun. Passive solar incorporates the following elements strategically 
to maximize the solar potential of any home or building (namely, maximizing solar 

heat gain in winter months and minimizing solar heat gain in summer months to 
reduce heating/cooling demand; and maximizing the use of daylighting to reduce 

demand for electricity for lighting): strategic design and architecture, building 
materials, east-west building lot orientation, windows, landscaping, awnings, and 
ventilation. 

  
 Photovoltaic (PV) System: Any solar energy system that produces electricity by the 

use of semiconductor devices, called photovoltaic cells, which generate electricity 
when exposed to sunlight.  

  

 Pole-Mount Systems: Any solar energy system that is directly installed on specialized 
solar racking systems, which are attached to a pole, anchored and firmly affixed to a  

foundation in the ground.  
 

 Power: The rate at which work is performed (the rate of producing, transferring, or 
using energy). 

    

 PV-Direct Systems: Any system designed to only provide electricity when the sun is 
shining, including, but not limited to PV panels, required electrical safety gear, and 

wiring.  
 
 Racking: Any structural sections of the roof-mounted or pole-mounted systems from 

which solar energy systems are attached or anchored. 
  

 Roof-Mount System (aka rooftop mounted, building mounted): Any solar energy 
system consisting of solar panels which are installed directly on the roof of a home, 
commercial building, and/or an accessory structure, such as a garage, pergola, 

and/or shed. 
   

 Solar Access: The ability of one property to continue to receive sunlight across 
property lines without obstruction from another’s property (buildings, foliage or other 
impediments).  

 
Solar Array: Multiple solar panels combined to create one system. 

 
 Solar Collector: Any solar PV cell, panel, or array, or solar thermal collector device, 

that relies upon solar radiation as an energy source for the generation of electricity 

or useable heat. 
   

6



TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

 Solar Easement: An easement recorded pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 44-9-20 -§ 44-9-24, 
the purpose of which is to secure the right to receive sunlight across the real property 

of another for the continued access to sunlight necessary to operate a solar energy 
system. 
 

 Solar Energy System: Any system capable of collecting and converting solar radiation 
into heat, mechanical, or electrical energy and transferring these forms of energy to 
storage or to point of use, including, but not limited to, water heating, space heating 

or cooling, electric energy generation, or mechanical energy generation.  This 
definition shall include Solar Thermal, Photovoltaic, and Passive Solar Systems. 

 
Solar Energy System, Small-Scale: An Active Solar Energy System that occupies 
1,750 square feet of surface area or less (equivalent to a rated nameplate capacity 

of about 25 kW DC). 
 

Solar Energy System, Medium-Scale: An Active Solar Energy System that occupies 
more than 1,750 but less than 40,000 square feet of surface area (equivalent to a 
rated nameplate capacity of about 25 - 550 kW DC).  

 
Solar Energy System, Large-Scale: An Active Solar Energy System that occupies 

more than 40,000 square feet of surface area (equivalent to a rated nameplate 
capacity of about 550kW DC or greater).  
 

 Solar Farm (aka utility-scale solar): A large-scale solar energy system that is 
designed to supply electricity directly to the utility grid, typically occupying many 

acres of land. 
 
 Solar Glare: The potential for solar panels to reflect sunlight, with an intensity 

sufficient to cause annoyance, discomfort, or loss in visual performance and visibility. 
  

 Solar Photovoltaic (Solar PV) System: Solar systems consisting of photovoltaic cells, 
made with semiconducting materials, that produce electricity (in the form of direct 
current (DC)) when they are exposed to sunlight. A typical PV system consists of PV 

panels (or modules) that combine to form an array; other system components may 
include mounting racks and hardware, wiring for electrical connections, and power 

conditioning equipment, such as an inverter and/or battery.  
 
 Solar Panel (or module): A device for the direct conversion of sunlight into useable 

solar energy (including electricity or heat).  
  

 Solar Process Heat: Technologies that provide industrial specific applications, 
including ventilation air preheating, solar process heating, and solar cooling. 

  
 Solar-Ready: The concept of planning and building with the purpose of enabling 

future use of Solar Energy Systems.  

 

7



TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

 Solar Thermal System (aka Solar Hot Water or Solar Heating Systems):  Any solar 
energy system that directly heats water, air, or other fluid (such as an antifreeze 

solution) using sunlight.  
 

 Thin Film Solar PV: PV cells consisting of thin layer(s) of semiconductor material(s) 
(such as amorphous silicon, cadmium telluride, copper indium gallium diselenide, 
among other materials) deposited on a solid substrate, including products such as 

Solar Modules, rooftop shingles and tiles, building facades, the glazing for skylights, 
and other building integrated materials. 

  
 Tilt: The angle of the solar panels and/or solar collector relative to the horizon. 

Something lying flat on the ground has a tilt of 0°, a perpendicular wall has a tilt of 

90°, and a roof has a tilt equal to its pitch expressed in degrees. 
  

True Solar Noon: When the sun is at its highest during its daily east-west path across 
the sky (this is also known as 0° Azimuth). 
  

Sec. 53-3 Applicability 
(1)  This Ordinance shall apply to all solar systems installed and constructed after 

the effective date of this Ordinance.  For purposes of this Ordinance, “solar 
energy system” means a solar energy system as defined herein. 

(2)  Solar energy systems constructed prior to the effective date of this Ordinance 
shall not be required to meet the requirements of this Ordinance.   

(3)  In addition to the regulations herein provided, all solar energy systems shall 

be designed, erected, and installed in accordance with any and all applicable 
local, state, utility, and national codes, regulations, and standards.   

 
Sec. 53-4 Placement by Zoning District 
Solar energy systems shall be authorized in the zoning districts of Putnam County as 

follows: 

 All Roof Mounted 

or building 
Integrated 

Ground or Pole – 

Small 
(< 1750 sq. ft.) 

Ground – 

Medium 
(1750 – 40,000 

sq. ft.) 

Ground – Large 

(>40,000 sq. ft.) 

A-1 

Agricultural  
 

Permitted 

(Accessory) 

Permitted Permitted Permitted 

(Conditional 
Use) 

A-2 
Agricultural  
 

Permitted 
(Accessory) 

Permitted Permitted Permitted 
(Conditional 
Use) 

R-1R Single-
Family 

Residential  
 

Permitted 
(Accessory) 

Permitted 
(Accessory) 

Permitted 
(Conditional 

Use) 

Prohibited 

R-1 Single-
Family 
Residential  

 

Permitted 
(Accessory) 

Permitted 
(Accessory) 

Permitted 
(Conditional 
Use) 

Prohibited 

8



TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

R-2 Single-

Family 
Residential 
 

Permitted 

(Accessory) 

Permitted 

(Accessory) 

Permitted 

(Conditional 
Use) 

Prohibited 

MHP 
Manufactured 

Home Park 
Districts 

 

Permitted 
(Accessory) 

Permitted 
(Accessory) 

Permitted 
(Conditional 

Uses) 

Prohibited 

RM-1 Multi-
Family 

Residential  
 

Permitted 
(Accessory) 

Permitted 
(Accessory) 

Permitted 
(Conditional 

Use) 

Prohibited  

RM-2 Multi-

Family 
Residential  

 
 

 

Permitted 

(Accessory) 

Permitted 

(Accessory) 

Permitted 

(Conditional 
Use) 

Prohibited  

 All Roof Mounted Ground – Small  
(<1750 sq. ft.) 

Ground – 
Medium  

(1750 – 40,000 
sq. ft.) 

Ground – Large  
(> 40,000 sq. ft) 

RM-3 Multi-
Family 

Residential 

Permitted 
(Accessory) 

Permitted  
(Accessory) 

Permitted 
(Conditional 

Use) 

Prohibited  

Village District 

 

Permitted 

(Accessory) 

Permitted 

(Accessory) 

Permitted 

(Conditional 
Use) 

Prohibited  

C-1 
Commercial 

Permitted Permitted 
(Conditional 
Use) 

Prohibited  Prohibited  

C-2 
Commercial  

Permitted  Permitted  Permitted Permitted 
(Conditional 

Use) 

C-3 

Commercial 

Permitted Permitted Permitted  Permitted  

(Conditional 
Use) 

I-M 
Industrial-

Manufacturing  

Permitted  Permitted Permitted Permitted 
(Conditional 

Use) 

Public  Permitted Permitted  Permitted Permitted  

 
Sec. 53-5 Solar Energy System Requirements  

(1) To the extent practicable, and in accordance with Georgia law, the 
accommodation of solar energy systems and associated equipment, shall be 

9



TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

encouraged in the application of the various review and approval provisions of 
the Putnam County Code of Ordinances.  

(2)  A solar energy system may provide power for the principal use and/or 
accessory use of the property on which the solar energy system is located but 

is not required to do so.  
(3) The installation and construction of a roof-mount solar energy system or 

building-integrated solar energy systems shall be subject to the following 

development and design standards: 
a.  A roof, building-mounted, or building-integrated solar energy system 

may be mounted on a principal or accessory building.  
b. Any height limitations of the Putnam County Code of Ordinances shall 

not be applicable to solar collectors, provided that such structures are 

erected only to such height as is reasonably necessary to accomplish 
the purpose for which they are intended to serve.   

c. Placement of solar collectors on flat roofs shall be allowed by right, 
provided that panels do not extend horizontally past the roofline.    

 (5) The installation and construction of a ground-mount or pole-mount solar 

energy system shall be subject to the following development and design 
standards: 

a. The height of the solar collector and any mounts shall not exceed 20 
feet when oriented at maximum tilt.   

b. The surface area of a ground- or pole-mounted system, regardless of 
the mounted angle, shall be calculated as part of the overall lot 
coverage.  

c.  The minimum solar energy system setback distance from the property 
lines shall be equivalent to the building setback requirement of the 

underlying zoning district.  
d. All power transmission lines from a ground-mounted solar energy 

system to any building or other structure shall, be located underground 

and/or in accordance with the building electrical code as appropriate.  
(6) The installation and construction of a solar farm or utility-grade solar energy 

system shall be subject to the following development and design standards 
a.  A minimum setback distance of 50 feet from all property boundaries 

shall be required, with the exception of property boundaries of adjoining 

parcels that are a part of a single solar farm project, as shown on the 
site plan. These property boundaries shall not be subject to this setback 

requirement. In such excepted case, a written waiver approved by the 
county and signed by the property owner(s) of all adjoining parcels 
included in the project shall be required. 

b. Power inverters and other sound producing equipment shall be no less 
than 150 feet from any dwelling unit at the time of 

construction/installation. 
c. All solar energy systems shall be completely enclosed with a minimum 

of six feet high chain link or security fencing as measured from the 

natural grade of the fencing perimeter.  
d. Solar farms shall be constructed with evergreen vegetative screening 

where existing buffers do not obscure solar energy system perimeters 
from dwelling units on adjacent parcels at maturity, required vegetative 

10



TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

screening shall not be less than 15 feet tall, regardless of line-of-sight. 
Brightly colored signs no smaller than one foot by two feet shall be 

posted on the fence, tree or permanent post every 100 feet warning of 
danger and high voltage. 

e. Clearing of natural vegetation shall be limited to that which is necessary 
for the construction, operation, and maintenance of the ground mounted 
solar photovoltaic installation and consistent with best practices for the 

preservation of natural areas or good husbandry of the land or forest. 
f. The names of the manufacturers, installers, facility owners, and facility 

operators, and their addresses and phone numbers shall be posted on 
the required fencing at each entrance of a solar farm. 

g. All electrical interconnection and distribution lines within a solar farm's 

boundaries, except for power lines that leave the project or are within 
the substation, shall be underground, unless the county code 

enforcement department grants a written exception due to severe 
environmental constraints. 

h. Lighting of a solar farm and its accessory structures shall be limited to 

the minimum reasonably necessary for its safe operation and shall be 
reasonably shielded from abutting properties. Where feasible, lighting 

of a solar farm shall be directed downward and shall incorporate full 
cutoff fixtures to reduce light pollution. 

i. All solar farms shall have a written emergency response plan that shall 
be approved by the county's planning and development office, sheriff's 
office, fire department, and emergency management agency. Each solar 

farm shall update its emergency response plan no later than January 1 
of each year with a copy provided to all departments and agencies 

named in this subsection. The emergency response plan shall include 
the following: 

(1) The phone number, email address, and street address for all 

manufacturers, installers, owners, and operators; and 
(2) The phone number, email address, and mailing address for a 

representative of the solar farm responsible for responding to public 
inquiries; and 

(3) The material safety data sheets that apply to any materials on the solar 

farm; and 
(4) The clearly marked means and instructions for shutting down the solar 

photovoltaic installation. 
j. Any solar farm that has not been in use for a period of 180 consecutive 

days for its original purpose as approved by the county code 

enforcement department shall be deemed abandoned and shall not be 
authorized to recommence operations until a new application and 

inspection have been completed. 
k. The owners and operators of a solar farm and the owners of any real 

property on which it is located shall be jointly responsible for 

maintaining solar energy farm. 
l. Permits for solar farms will include a contingent Decommissioning Plan, 

as specified in Section 53-7 of this Ordinance. 
(7)  All electrical equipment associated with, and necessary for the operation of 

11



TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

solar energy systems shall comply with the following:  
  Electrical equipment shall comply with the setbacks specified Chapter 

66-Zoning in the underlying zoning district.  
(8)  Solar panel placement should be prioritized to minimize or negate any solar 

glare onto nearby properties or roadways  
(9) A solar energy system shall not be used to display permanent or temporary 

advertising, including signage, streamers, pennants, spinners, reflectors, 

banners, or similar materials. The manufacturers and equipment information, 
warning, or indication of ownership shall be allowed on any equipment of the 

solar energy system provided they comply with the prevailing sign regulations.  
(10) A solar energy system shall not be constructed until a building/zoning permit 

has been approved and issued.  

 
Sec. 53-6. - Application for permit, fee, and revocation of permit. 

modified 
(a) Prior to the operation of any solar farms, the applicant shall submit an 
application for a solar farm permit on the form prescribed by the Putnam County 

Planning & Development and shall provide proof of compliance with all standards 
for solar farms outlined in this article. No solar farm shall commence operations 

until it has been inspected by the building inspector and obtained the permit 
required by this section. 

 
(b) An application for a solar farm permit shall be accompanied by a 

comprehensive site plan for the solar farm, which shall include, but not be 

limited to: 
 

(1) Drawings prepared by a professional engineer licensed to practice in 
Georgia that clearly illustrate the design of the solar farm; 

(2)  A project summary; 

(3) General procedures for operation and maintenance of the installation; 
(4) Measures for maintaining safe access to the installation; 

(5) Electrical schematics, 
(6) Soil erosion and sediment control; 
(7) Landscape plans; 

(8) Temporary or permanent roads or driveways; 
(9) Grading; 

(10) Vegetation clearing and planting and mitigation or screening with 
vegetation, structures, or fences; 

(11) Exterior lighting and any screening. 

 
(c) An application for a solar farm permit shall be accompanied by a 

decommissioning and restoration plan that describes the anticipated life of 
the solar project, the parties responsible for the decommissioning and 
restoration, the estimated decommissioning and restoration costs, the 

amount by which such costs were reduced due to the recyclable value of any 
materials, and the method for ensuring that funds will be available for 

decommissioning and restoration of the real property. The decommissioning 

12



TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

and restoration plan must be prepared by a professional engineer duly 
licensed by the State of Georgia. 

 
(d) An application for a solar farm permit shall be accompanied by a bond 

ensuring that funds will be available for decommissioning the solar farm and 
reasonably restoring the site to its natural condition. The bond shall be in the 
form of cash or surety from a bonding company qualified to transact business 

in the State of Georgia and acceptable to the Putnam County Board of 
Commissioners. The bond shall be payable to Putnam County in an amount 

determined by the county’s engineer to be reasonably sufficient to cover 
removal of the solar farm in its entirety and reasonable restoration of the site 
to its natural condition. The bond shall be maintained as long as the solar 

farm exists, regardless of whether it is actively operating. If the bond is not 
maintained as provided herein, Putnam County may call the bond and use 

the proceeds to remove the solar farm in its entirety and to reasonably 
restore the site to its natural condition. The bond may be released or 
returned when the director of planning and development determines in its 

reasonable discretion that the decommissioning of the solar farm has been 
completed in accordance with all applicable ordinances and federal and state 

laws. 
 

(e) At the time of application, each applicant shall pay a non-refundable permit 
fee in the amount established by the Putnam County Planning & 
Development schedule of fees. 

 
(f) A permit may be revoked by the Putnam County Planning & Development for 

any solar farm which is not in full compliance with this article. Prior to 
revoking the permit, the Putnam County Code Enforcement Officer shall 
provide three calendar days' written notice of any deficiencies to the solar 

farm owner or operator via U.S. Mail, overnight delivery, or hand delivery. If 
the deficiencies are not corrected within those three days, the director of 

planning & development or designee may revoke the solar farm's permit and 
require the solar farm to submit a new application before recommencing 
operations.  

 
Sec. 53-7 Safety and Inspections   

(1)  The design of the solar energy system shall conform to applicable local, state 
and national codes, regulations, and standards. A building permit, reviewed by 
department staff, shall be obtained for a solar energy system. All design and 

installation work shall comply with all applicable provisions in the versions of 
the National Electric Code (NEC), the International Residential Code (IRC), 

International Commercial Building Code, International  or  Fire Code including 
any state or local amendments that are enforced at the time of permit review, 
and any additional requirements set forth by the local utility.   

(2) Emergency Access – Roof-mounted solar energy systems shall be located in 
such a manner as to ensure emergency access to the roof, provide pathways 

to specific areas of the roof, provide for smoke ventilation opportunities, and 
provide emergency egress from the roof.  

13



TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

(3) The solar energy system shall comply with all applicable Putnam County Code 
of Ordinances so as to ensure the structural integrity of such solar energy 

system. The existing roof structure and the weight of the solar energy system 
shall be taken into consideration when applying for a solar energy system 

permit.  
(4)   Prior to operation, electrical connections must be inspected by an appropriate 

electrical inspection person or agency, as determined by the Planning director.   

(5) Any connection to the public utility grid must be approved by the appropriate 
public utility. 

(6) If batteries are included as part of the solar collector system, they must be 
installed according to all requirements set forth in the versions of the National 
Electric Code and State Fire Code in force at the time of permit.  When no 

longer in operation, the batteries shall be disposed of in accordance with the 
laws and regulations of the Putnam County and any other applicable laws and 

regulations relating to hazardous waste disposal.   
(7)   The owners and operators of a solar farm and the owners of any real property 

on which it is located shall be jointly responsible for the maintenance and 

removal of the solar energy system, its equipment and panels, and any 
appurtenant structures The names of the manufacturers, installers, facility 

owners, and facility operators, and their addresses and phone numbers shall 
be posted on the required fencing at each entrance of a solar farm. 

(8) The Director of Planning & Development or designee shall have the right to 
inspect any solar farm in the unincorporated areas of the county without notice 
if there is a risk of immediate harm or injury to person or property. If there is 

no risk of immediate harm or injury to person or property, the director or 
designee shall have the right to inspect any solar farm upon making reasonable 

efforts to notify the owners or operators 24 hours in advance of the inspection. 
 
Sec. 53-8 Abandonment and removal  

(1) If a ground-mounted solar energy system is removed, any earth disturbance 
as a result of the removal shall be landscaped in accordance with Putnam 

County Code of Ordinance. 
(2) A ground or pole-mounted solar energy system is considered to be abandoned 

or defective if it has not been in operation for a period of 180 consecutive days.  

If abandoned, the solar energy system shall be repaired by the responsible 
party, as per Sec. 53-6 (7), meet federal, state, and local safety standards, or 

be removed by the owner within the time period designated by the Planning 
Director.  

(3) Utility-grade or solar farm solar energy systems shall be subject to the creation 

of a Decommissioning Plan at time of permit approval. This plan shall include, 
at a minimum: 

 a. Defined conditions upon which decommissioning will be initiated (i.e. end of 
lease, safety hazard, etc.); 

 b. Removal of all non-utility owned equipment conduits, structures, fencing, 

roads and foundations; restoration of property to condition prior to solar farm 
development; 

 c. The timeframe for completion of removal and decommissioning activities; 
and 

14



TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

 d. Signed statement from the party responsible for completing the 
Decommissioning Plan acknowledging such responsibility. 

 Upon failure to accomplish the Decommissioning Plan, the Building Inspector 
may take action as authorized in the International Property Maintenance Code 

(4) The owners and operators of a solar farm and the owners of any real property 
on which it is located shall be jointly responsible for the removal of the solar 
energy system, its equipment and panels, and any appurtenant structures 

and for restoration of the site to as natural a condition as reasonably possible, 
all of which must be completed to the reasonable satisfaction of the Director 

of Planning and Development no later than 90 days after abandonment or 
closure. No later than 120 days after abandonment or closure, the owners or 
operators of any such solar farm shall provide written documentation 

acceptable to the Director, demonstrating that the solar panels and related 
equipment were properly disposed of in accordance with federal, state, and 

local laws. In addition to all other available legal remedies, including calling 
the bond required per section 53-6(d) of this section, if the entire solar 
energy system has not been removed within 90 days after abandonment or 

closure, Putnam County may remove the solar energy system, its equipment, 
and panels and any appurtenant structures, and may place a lien for the costs 

of removal upon the real property on which the solar farm was located. Prior 
to removing the solar energy system, Putnam County shall provide ten days' 

written notice to the owners and operators of the solar farm listed in the 
emergency response plan required pursuant to Sec. 53-5(6)(1) of this section 
and the owners of the real property on which the solar farm is located. Said 

notice shall be provided by personal delivery or certified mail to the last 
address reasonably known and shall be posted on the property. Any delay by 

the county in taking action pursuant to this subsection shall not in any 
manner waive the county's right to take such action. 

 

Sec. 53-9 Appeals 
(1) If the owner of a solar energy system is found to be in violation of the 

provisions of this Ordinance, the owner shall be subject to Sec 1-13 of these 
Code of Ordinances.   

(2) If a building permit for a solar energy system is denied because of a conflict 

with other goals of Putnam County, the applicant may seek relief from the 
Planning and Zoning Commission, which shall regard solar energy as a factor 

to be considered, weighed, and balanced along with other factors.   
 
Sec. 53-10 Penalties 

(a) Each violation of this article may be punished as provided in section 1-13. 
(b) Any owner or operator of a solar farm shall be responsible for ensuring compliance 

with this article and shall be punishable for noncompliance. 
 
Sec. 53-11 Solar-Ready Zoning (Optional) 

 (1) New structures will, to the extent possible and insofar as practical, be situated 
on the lot to take advantage of solar access, including the orientation of 

proposed buildings with respect to sun angles, the shading and windscreen 

15



TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

potential of existing and proposed vegetation on and off the site, and the 
impact of solar access to adjacent uses and properties.   

(2) To permit maximum solar access to proposed lots and future buildings, 
wherever reasonably feasible and where consistent with other appropriate 

design considerations, new streets shall be located on an east-west axis to 
encourage building siting with the maximum exposure of roof and wall area to 
the sun.   

(3) Putnam County tree-planting programs shall take into account the impact of 
street trees on the solar access of surrounding properties and, where possible, 

efforts shall be made to avoid shading possible locations of solar collectors.   
(4) When the Planning and Zoning Commission reviews and acts upon applications 

for subdivision approval or site plan approval, it shall take into consideration 

whether the proposed construction would block access to sunlight between the 
peak daylight hours of 9:00 am and 3:00 pm Eastern Standard Time for 

existing ground-mount, pole-mount, or roof-mount solar energy collectors, or 
for solar energy collectors for which a permit has been issued. 

(5) Where reasonable and appropriate, new subdivisions should be platted so as 

to preserve or enhance solar access for either passive or active systems, 
consistent with the other requirements of the Putnam County Code of 

Ordinance.     
(6) The plan for development of any site within cluster subdivisions shall be 

designed and arranged in such a way as to promote solar access for all dwelling 
units.  Considerations may include the following: 
a. In order to maximize solar access, the higher-density dwelling units 

should be placed on a south-facing slope and lower-density dwelling 
units sited on a north-facing slope. 

b. A tall structure should be sited to the north of a short structure.   
(7) Solar-Ready zoning should be considered as one among multiple 

considerations in planning new developments.   

 
Sec. 53-11 Adoption 

This Ordinance shall take effect [XX days] after the date of its enactment.  
 
DULY ORDAINED AND ENACTED the __________day of __________, 20__, by the 

Putnam County Board of Commissioners in the County of Putnam, in the State of 
Georgia, in lawful session duly assembled.  

 

16



File Attachments for Item:

8. Consent Agenda

a. Approval of Minutes - June 16, 2020 Regular Meeting (staff-CC)

b. Authorization for Chairman to sign Revised Putnam County Transit Procurement Manual (staff-

CC/Transit)

17



DRAFT Minutes                                                             Page 1 of 6                                                                                     Approved 

June 16, 2020                                                                                                                                                           _______________ 

PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
 

117 Putnam Drive, Suite A ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 
 

Minutes 

Tuesday, June 16, 2020 ◊ 6:30 PM 

Putnam County Administration Building – Room 203 

 

The Putnam County Board of Commissioners met on Tuesday, June 16, 2020 at approximately 

6:30 PM in the Putnam County Administration Building, 117 Putnam Drive, Room 203, 

Eatonton, Georgia. 

 

PRESENT  

Chairman Billy Webster 

Commissioner Kelvin Irvin 

Commissioner Daniel Brown 

Commissioner Bill Sharp 

 

STAFF PRESENT 

County Attorney Adam Nelson 

County Manager Paul Van Haute 

County Clerk Lynn Butterworth 

Planning & Development Director Lisa Jackson 

 

 

Opening 

1. Welcome - Call to Order 

Chairman Webster called the meeting to order at approximately 6:31 p.m. 

(Copy of agenda made a part of the minutes on minute book page __________.) 

 

2. Approval of Agenda 

Motion to approve the Agenda. 

Motion made by Commissioner Sharp, Seconded by Commissioner Irvin. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp 

 

3. Invocation 

County Attorney Adam Nelson gave the invocation. 

 

4. Pledge of Allegiance (KI) 

Commissioner Irvin led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

 

 

18



DRAFT Minutes                                                             Page 2 of 6                                                                                     Approved 

June 16, 2020                                                                                                                                                           _______________ 

Zoning/Public Hearing 

Chairman Webster opened the Public Hearing at approximately 6:34 p.m.  County Attorney 

Nelson read the rules for public hearings.  Chairman Webster read the agenda items and advised 

that items 5-9 will be taken together. 

 

5. Request by Howard McMichael, agent for Oconee Overlook, LLC & Lick Creek Holding's 

LLC to rezone 2.14 acres on Collis Road from R-1 to RM-3. [Map 104, Parcel 030, District 

3] (staff-P&D) 

6. Request by Howard McMichael, agent for Lick Creek Holding's LLC to rezone 21.40 acres 

on Collis Road from AG-1 to RM-3. [Map 104, Parcel 032001, District 3] (staff-P&D) 

7. Request by Howard McMichael, agent for Mallard's Overlook, LLC to rezone 29.58 acres on 

Collis Road from AG-1 to RM-3. [Map 104, Parcel 032, District 3] (staff-P&D) 

8. Request by Howard McMichael, agent for Oconee Overlook, LLC & Lick Creek Holding's 

LLC to rezone 3.5 acres on Collis Road from R-1 to RM-3. [Map 104, Parcel 033, District 3] 

(staff-P&D) 

9. Request by Howard McMichael, agent for Oconee Overlook, LLC to rezone 0.63 

acres/27,298 square feet on Doug Lane from R-1 to RM-3. [Map 104B, Parcel 001, District 

3] (staff-P&D) 

 

The following individuals spoke in support of the rezoning requests: 

Doug Dillard - submitted documents and presented the requested conditions of the applicant. 

1. The hotel concept plans (substantially conform) may be built with townhomes, 

condominiums, cottages and accessory buildings on Map 104 Parcel 032, Map 104 Parcel 

033 and Map 104B Parcel 001.  The Building Permit for the primary Hotel structure on 

Map 104 Parcel 032 shall be issued prior to any permits for townhomes, condominiums, 

cottages, and accessory buildings on Map 104 Parcel 032, Map 104 Parcel 033, and Map 

104B Parcel 001. 

2. RM-3 zoning shall apply to Map 104 Parcel 032001 and Map 104 Parcel 030. 

3. Primary access shall be from Collis Road.  Emergency access shall be from Collis Marina 

Road and shall be restricted via signage or gate. 

4. This rezoning shall be conditioned upon the resurveying and recordation of the plat as 

stated in Section 66-165(e)(3) of the Putnam County Code of Ordinances of parcels 

identified as Map 104 Parcel 030, Map 104 Parcel 032, Map 104 Parcel 032001, Map 104 

Parcel 033, and Map 104B 001. 

Josh Sprayberry 

Lauren Sprayberry 

Walter C. Rocker, III, on behalf of the Putnam Development Authority 

Cynthia Wallace 

Brandon Burgess 

Howard McMichael 

 

 

 

 

 

 

19



DRAFT Minutes                                                             Page 3 of 6                                                                                     Approved 

June 16, 2020                                                                                                                                                           _______________ 

The following individuals spoke against these items: 

Pete Wardlaw (submitted documents) 

Ron Ryland 

Denise Moore 

Mark Jones 

Mark Street 

Kathy Wardlaw 

Kitty Burgess (submitted documents) 

Danny Cook 

Kristie McLeod 

Jeff McLeod 

Steve Burgess (submitted documents) 

Paul Reeves 

Lori Reeves 

Sonya Cook 

 

Mr. Dillard used the remainder of his time for rebuttal. 

 

Staff recommendation was for approval of the proposed rezoning, subject to the following 

conditions: 

1. To restrict the available uses of the property as follows: 

a. Hotel 

i. The hotel shall substantial conform to the submitted scaled conceptual 

plans and renderings submitted in support of the proposed rezoning 

application, to include the buildings, ingress and egress improvements, 

and other structures; 

ii. No more than ten percent (10%) of the total number of guest rooms 

may contain stoves, conventional ovens or full-size refrigerators 

(larger than 11.5 cubic feet).  No more than ten percent (10%) of the 

total number of guest rooms shall be rented or leased by the same 

person for continuous periods in excess of ten (10) days; 

iii. Buildings shall be constructed of brick and/or stacked stone on all 

sides.  The hotel building may utilize contrasting architectural metal 

panels or accents; 

iv. Not to exceed the proposed total of 175 room as stated in the 

application.  Any increase beyond this total will require approval from 

the Board of Commissioner; 

2. The application of green infrastructure (bioswales/biorention, etc) in combination of 

water quality retention ponds, will require implementation to minimize the negative 

effects of imperviousness and stormwater runoff to the water quality of Lake Oconee.  

The Georgia Stormwater Manual will be applied to the project under review.  The 

manual’s water quality template will be used to assess the various water quality BMP 

options. 

3. Provide at least one 3-inch caliper tree per 3 parking spaces.  Trees shall be placed in 

tree islands within the footprint of the parking lot.  Location of trees shall be 

determined by the county during the site development review (LDP phase).  Provide 

20



DRAFT Minutes                                                             Page 4 of 6                                                                                     Approved 

June 16, 2020                                                                                                                                                           _______________ 

two 3-inch caliper trees per 100 feet on the shoulder of all roadways within the 

development.  Trees to be placed on both sides of all internal roads.  Specific location 

of the trees adjacent to the internal roads to be determined by the county during the 

site development review process.  These tree plantings shall not preclude the 

developer from installing additional vegetation as he/she deems appropriate. 

4. Provide a 25-foot-wide densely planted landscape buffer along the property line on 

Doug Lane and where the property abuts residential parcels on Collis Marina Road.  

The additional plantings shall provide a 75% buffer within 3 years of planting.  

Landscape plan and species to be approved during the development review phase. 

5. Emergency exit required on Collis Marina Road.  Emergency exit shall not be paved. 

“Grass Crete” or similar product shall be used as the surface treatment for this access.  

A removable bollard (s) or similar barrier shall be used with only emergency services 

being provided entryway. 

6. Preserve a 20’ non-buildable strip along the Collis Road frontage measured from edge 

of right-of-way.  The purpose of this condition is for future county acquisition as 

right-of-way. 

7. A minimum of 65 feet building setback from Lake Oconee will be required.  This 

includes all structures and stormwater management facilities.  Walkways/paths and 

boat docks are excluded from this setback requirement. 

8. Development shall have only one (1) vehicular access.  Access shall be from Collis 

Road. 

9. Map 104, parcel 030, map 104 parcel 032, map 104 parcel 032001, map 104, parcel 

033 and map 104 B, parcel 001, must be combined and cannot be used or sold as a 

standalone parcel. 

10. This rezoning shall be conditioned upon the resurveying and recordation of the plat as 

stated in Section 66-165 (e)(3) of the Putnam County Code of Ordinances. 

 

Chairman Webster made some comments and asked questions, referencing two articles from The 

Eatonton Messenger and reading some passages from Mr. Dillard's book, Zoning and Land Use 

Law in Georgia. 

 

Motion to approve the following rezoning requests by Mr. Howard McMichael, agent for 

Oconee Overlook, LLC, Lick Creek Holdings, LLC, and Mallard’s Overlook, LLC: 

• 2.14 acres on Collis Road from R-1 to RM-3 [Map 104, Parcel 030] 

• 21.40 acres on Collis Road from AG-1 to RM-3 [Map 104, Parcel 032001] 

• 29.58 acres on Collis Road from AG-1 to RM-3 [Map 104, Parcel 032] 

• 3.5 acres on Collis Road from R-1 to RM-3 [Map 104, Parcel 033] 

• 0.63 acres on Doug Lane from R-1 to RM-3 [Map 104B, Parcel 001] 

with the following conditions: 

1. The hotel concept plans (substantially conform) may be built with townhomes, 

condominiums, cottages and accessory buildings on Map 104 Parcel 032, Map 104 

Parcel 033 and Map 104B Parcel 001.  The Building Permit for the primary Hotel 

structure on Map 104 Parcel 032 shall be issued prior to any permits for 

townhomes, condominiums, cottages, and accessory buildings on Map 104 Parcel 

032, Map 104 Parcel 033, and Map 104B Parcel 001. 

2. RM-3 zoning shall apply to Map 104 Parcel 032001 and Map 104 Parcel 030. 

21



DRAFT Minutes                                                             Page 5 of 6                                                                                     Approved 

June 16, 2020                                                                                                                                                           _______________ 

3. Primary access shall be from Collis Road.  Emergency access shall be from Collis 

Marina Road and shall be restricted via signage or gate. 

4. This rezoning shall be conditioned upon the resurveying and recordation of the plat 

as stated in Section 66-165(e)(3) of the Putnam County Code of Ordinances of 

parcels identified as Map 104 Parcel 030, Map 104 Parcel 032, Map 104 Parcel 

032001, Map 104 Parcel 033, and Map 104B 001. 

 

Motion made by Commissioner Sharp, Seconded by Commissioner Irvin. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp 

(Copy of documents made a part of the minutes on minute book pages __________ to 

__________.) 

 

 

Public Hearing ended and the meeting recessed at approximately 8:37 p.m. 

Meeting reconvened at approximately 8:47 p.m. 

 

Regular Business Meeting 

10. Public Comments 

None 

 

11. Consent Agenda 

a. Approval of Minutes - June 5, 2020 Regular Meeting (staff-CC) 

b. Approval of Minutes - June 5, 2020 Executive Session (staff-CC) 

c. Approval of Minutes - June 5, 2020 Called Meeting (staff-CC) 

d. Authorization for Chairman to sign ACCG Group Health Benefits Program Health 

Promotion & Wellbeing Grant Application (staff-HR) 

Motion to approve the Consent Agenda. 

Motion made by Commissioner Sharp, Seconded by Commissioner Irvin. 

Voting Yea: Chairman Webster, Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Sharp 

Commissioner Brown stepped out of the room. 

(Copy of application made a part of the minutes on minute book page __________.) 

Reports/Announcements 

12. County Manager Report 

No report. 

 

13. County Attorney Report 

No report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

22



DRAFT Minutes                                                             Page 6 of 6                                                                                     Approved 

June 16, 2020                                                                                                                                                           _______________ 

14. Commissioner Announcements 

Commissioner Irvin: none 

 

Commissioner Brown: none 

 

Commissioner Sharp: none 

 

Chairman Webster: none 

Closing 

15. Adjournment 

Motion to adjourn the meeting. 

Motion made by Commissioner Irvin, Seconded by Commissioner Sharp. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp 

 

 

Meeting adjourned at approximately 8:50 p.m. 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

Lynn Butterworth      Billy Webster 

County Clerk       Chairman 

23



 

Putnam County Board of Commissioners 

Agenda Item Request Form  
 

 
DATE OF MEETING REQUESTED: __________________________________________________________  
 
REQUEST BY: ______________________________________________________________________________
 
AGENDA ITEM: ____________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________

 
AGENDA ITEM TYPE:  

      * 
 

______________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
*ACTION REQUESTED: ____________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION PROVIDED:     
 
BUDGET/FUNDING INFORMATION: _______________________________________________________
 
FACTS AND/OR ISSUES: ___________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

24



 

NOTES: 
Yellow Highlight = New Text 

Red Text = Old Text that has been changed 
 

Putnam County Board of Commissioners 
 

Putnam County Transit 
 

FTA PROCUREMENT POLICY 
 

 
 
 

Adopted 
April 6, 2018 

Revised 
July 10, 2020 

 

25



 

Table of Contents 
 
 

1. INTRODUCTION ...........................................................................................................................6 

1.1. Purpose ......................................................................................................................................... 6 

1.2. Applicability ................................................................................................................................... 6 

1.3. Third Party Contracting Capacity .................................................................................................. 7 

1.4. Relationship to Other County Policies .......................................................................................... 7 

2. CODE OF ETHICS AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY ..................................................................8 

2.1. Purpose ......................................................................................................................................... 8 

2.2. Definition of Key Terms................................................................................................................. 8 

2.3. Applicability ................................................................................................................................... 8 

2.4. Gifts ............................................................................................................................................... 9 

2.5. Employee Conflicts of Interest ...................................................................................................... 9 

2.5.1. Conflicts of Interest ............................................................................................................... 9 

2.5.2. Discovery of Actual or Potential Conflict of Interest (Disqualification and Waiver) ............. 9 

2.5.3. Employee Disclosure Requirements ................................................................................... 10 

2.5.4. Confidential Information ..................................................................................................... 10 

2.5.5. Solicitation Provision ........................................................................................................... 10 

2.6. Organizational Conflicts of Interest ............................................................................................ 11 

3. PUTNAM COUNTY TRANSIT RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER FEDERAL LAW ......................................... 12 

3.1. Third Party Contracting Capacity ................................................................................................ 12 

3.2. Contract Administration System ................................................................................................. 12 

3.2.1. Written Procurement Procedures ...................................................................................... 12 

3.2.2. Adequate Third Party Contract Provisions .......................................................................... 13 

3.2.3. Industry Contracts ............................................................................................................... 13 

3.2.4. Revenue Contracts .............................................................................................................. 13 

3.2.5. Record Keeping ................................................................................................................... 13 

3.3. Determination of Needs ............................................................................................................. 14 

3.4. Eligibility ...................................................................................................................................... 14 

3.5. Necessity ..................................................................................................................................... 14 

3.5.1. Unnecessary Reserves ......................................................................................................... 15 

3.5.2. Acquisition for Assignment Purposes ................................................................................. 15 

3.6. Contractor Responsibilities ......................................................................................................... 16 

26



 

3.6.1. Debarment and Suspension ................................................................................................ 16 

3.6.2. Lobbying Certification and Disclosure ................................................................................ 17 

3.6.3. Additional Requirements .................................................................................................... 17 

3.7. Bonding ....................................................................................................................................... 19 

3.7.1. Thresholds ........................................................................................................................... 19 

3.7.2. Acceptable Sureties............................................................................................................. 19 

3.7.3. Reduced Bonding ................................................................................................................ 19 

3.7.4. Excessive Bonding ............................................................................................................... 20 

3.8. Preference for U.S. Property—Buy America ............................................................................... 20 

3.9. Accessibility ................................................................................................................................. 20 

4. SOURCES OF ACQUISITIONS ...................................................................................................... 21 

4.1. Force Account ............................................................................................................................. 21 

4.2. Joint Procurements ..................................................................................................................... 21 

4.3. State or Local Government Purchasing Schedules or Purchasing Contracts .............................. 21 

4.3.1. Definition............................................................................................................................. 21 

4.3.2. Applicability of Federal Provisions ...................................................................................... 21 

4.3.3. Federal Supply Schedules.................................................................................................... 22 

4.3.4. Existing Contracts ................................................................................................................ 22 

4.4. The Open Market ........................................................................................................................ 24 

5. PROCEDURES FOR OPEN MARKET PROCUREMENTS ................................................................... 25 

5.1. Solicitation of Competitive Price Quotes, Bids or Proposals ...................................................... 25 

5.2. Receipt and Evaluation of Unsolicited Proposals........................................................................ 25 

5.3. Prequalification ........................................................................................................................... 25 

5.4. Solicitation Requirements and Restrictions ................................................................................ 26 

5.4.1. Description of the Property or Services .............................................................................. 26 

5.4.2. Evaluation Factors. .............................................................................................................. 27 

5.4.3. Permissible Contract Types ................................................................................................. 27 

5.4.4. Prohibitive or Restricted Contract Types ............................................................................ 28 

5.4.5. Other Federal Requirements Affecting the Property or Services to be Acquired .............. 28 

5.4.6. Other Federal Requirements Affecting the Bidder or Offeror and the Contractor ............ 28 

5.4.7. Reservation of Right to Award to Other Than the Low Bidder or Offeror .......................... 28 

5.4.8. Reservation of Right to Reject All Bids or Offers ................................................................ 29 

5.5. Methods of Procurement ........................................................................................................... 29 

5.5.1. Micro-Purchases ................................................................................................................. 29 

27



 

5.5.2. Small Purchases................................................................................................................... 30 

5.5.3. Formal Purchases ................................................................................................................ 31 

5.6. Procurement by Other Than Full and Open Competition ........................................................... 36 

5.6.1. When Appropriate .............................................................................................................. 36 

5.7. Evaluation Requirements ............................................................................................................ 38 

5.7.1. General ................................................................................................................................ 38 

5.7.2. Options ................................................................................................................................ 38 

5.8. Contract Award Requirements ................................................................................................... 39 

5.8.1. Award to Other Than the Lowest Bidder or Offeror ........................................................... 39 

5.9. Independent Cost Estimate and Cost and Price Analysis ............................................................ 41 

5.9.1. Independent Cost Estimate ................................................................................................. 41 

5.9.2. Cost or Price Analysis .......................................................................................................... 41 

5.9.3. Approval of Contracts ......................................................................................................... 42 

6. CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION REQUIREMENTS AND CONSIDERATIONS ...................................... 43 

6.1. Putnam County Transit Staff Responsibilities ............................................................................. 43 

6.2. Administrative Restrictions on the Acquisition of Property and Services .................................. 43 

6.2.1. Legal Eligibility ..................................................................................................................... 43 

6.2.2. Scope of the Project ............................................................................................................ 43 

6.2.3. Period of Performance ........................................................................................................ 43 

6.3. Federal Cost Principles ................................................................................................................ 44 

6.4. Payment Provisions ..................................................................................................................... 44 

6.4.1. Financial Support for the Project ........................................................................................ 44 

6.5. Protections Against Performance Difficulties ............................................................................. 45 

6.5.1. Changes ............................................................................................................................... 45 

6.5.2. Remedies ............................................................................................................................. 45 

6.6. Contents of Complete Contract Files .......................................................................................... 46 

6.6.1. Written Record of Procurement History ............................................................................. 46 

6.7. Access to Records ....................................................................................................................... 47 

6.8. Contract Administration and Close-Out Documents .................................................................. 47 

6.8.1. Contractor Performance ..................................................................................................... 47 

6.8.2. Contract Deliverables .......................................................................................................... 47 

6.8.3. Contract Changes ................................................................................................................ 47 

6.8.4. Contract Payments .............................................................................................................. 48 

6.8.5. Contract Close-Out .............................................................................................................. 48 

6.9. Protest Procedures ..................................................................................................................... 48 

28



 

6.9.1. Statement of Policy ............................................................................................................. 48 

6.9.2. Putnam County Transit Staff Responsibilities ..................................................................... 48 

6.9.3. Solicitation Provision ........................................................................................................... 49 

6.9.4. Requirements for Protests .................................................................................................. 49 

6.9.5. Protest Response ................................................................................................................ 50 

6.9.6. Review of Protests by GDOT ............................................................................................... 50 

 
 
 
 
 

 
  

29



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 6 
Section 1:  Introduction 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1. Purpose 
 
This policy establishes guidelines and minimum standards that Putnam County Transit will use in the 
management of its third party contracts. This manual is intended to ensure that Putnam County Transit 
complies with Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and the Georgia Department of Transportation’s 
standards to ensure full and open competition and equitable treatment of all potential sources for all 
purchases made with funding derived from the Federal, state, and local governments. In all purchasing 
activity, the goal of Putnam County Transit is to ensure maximum open and free competition consistent 
with: 
 

• FTA Circular 4220.1F "Third Party Contracting Guidance" or latest version thereof; 

• 2 CFR § 200.317 – 200.326 
 
 
1.2. Applicability 
 
This manual applies to all procurements undertaken and financed, in whole or in part, with FTA financial 
assistance provided to Putnam County Transit to support open market procurements. An open market 
solicitation is used to purchase a good or service by soliciting from any available source. Most grantee 
procurement activity will be undertaken on the open market. Open market procurements exclude: 
 

• Employment Contracts; 

• Real Estate Contracts; and 

• Intergovernmental Agreements. 
 
The goal of this procurement policy is to provide an atmosphere in which all procurement transactions 
will be conducted in a manner providing full and open competition. Putnam County Transit will avoid 
the following situations considered to be restrictive of competition: 
 

• Application of unreasonable requirements placed on firms in order for them to qualify to do 
business; 

• Imposition of geographic preference standards in the selection of vendors; 

• Imposition of unnecessary experience and excessive bonding requirements; 

• Use of noncompetitive pricing practices between firms or between affiliated companies; 

• Employment of noncompetitive awards to any person or firm on retainer contracts; 

• Failure to recognize organizational conflicts of interest, which means that because of other 
activities, relationships, or contracts, a contractor is unable, or potentially unable, to render 
impartial assistance or advice to the grantee; a contractor's objectivity in performing the 
contract work is or might be otherwise impaired; or a contractor has an unfair competitive 
advantage; 

• Use of "brand name" specifications without listing its salient characteristics and not allowing 
"an equal" product to be offered; and 

• Any arbitrary action in the procurement process. 
 

30



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 7 
Section 1:  Introduction 

Putnam County Transit will conduct procurements in a manner that does not give in-State or local 
geographical preferences in the evaluation of bids or proposals, except in those cases where applicable 
Federal statutes expressly mandate or encourage geographic preference. This does not pre-empt 
Georgia licensing laws from being considered in those disciplines that are regulated by the State of 
Georgia. Geographic location may be a selection criterion in procurements for architectural and 
engineering (A&E) services if an appropriate number of qualified firms, given the nature and size of the 
project, are able to compete for the contract. 
 
 
1.3. Third Party Contracting Capacity 
 
FTA regulations (2 CFR § 200.319(c) and FTA Circular 4220.1F, Chapter III, § 3a) requires Putnam County 
Transit to have written procurement procedures. This policy is designed to meet FTA and GDOT’s 
requirements in this regard. 
 
 
1.4. Relationship to Other County Policies 
 
The purpose of these purchasing policies and procedures are two-fold. First, the County has established 
these policies and procedures to conform to the provisions of Federal procurement regulations that 
govern the County's use of FTA and GDOT funds. Second, these policies and procedures assure that 
materials, supplies, services and equipment required for efficient and effective operation of the transit 
program are procured with regard to an analysis of price, quality, quantity, terms and delivery 
specifications. These policies and procedures pertain only to the County's purchases made with FTA 
funds for the transit program; purchases with local funds and for purposes other than transit should 
follow the applicable Georgia law. 
 
These policies may not answer all questions related to purchasing; if any employee of Putnam County 
Transit has a question regarding these procedures, GDOT should be contacted for clarification and 
guidance. 
 
When Putnam County Transit undertakes any purchase utilizing FTA funds, this policy shall supersede 
any existing purchasing policy promulgated by the County. When any conflict exists between this policy 
and the existing policies of the County, the procedures in this policy shall prevail. If any employee of 
Putnam County Transit determines that a conflict exists between these policies and state and local law, 
Putnam County Transit shall contact GDOT and communicate the conflict. 
 
 
  

31



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 8 
Section 2:  Code Of Ethics And Conflict Of Interest Policy 

2. CODE OF ETHICS AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY 
 
2.1. Purpose 
 
Federal grant management rules (2 CFR § 200.318(c)(1)) require each recipient to maintain written 
standards of conduct governing the performance of its employees engaged in the award and 
administration of contracts. This policy must address: 
 

• Personal conflicts of interest 

• Gifts; and 

• Violations. 
 
 
2.2. Definition of Key Terms 
 
As used herein, the following definitions apply: 
 
Conflict of Interest – A situation in which an existing employee, or an employee who has been, or will 
be, offered employment, board member, employee, Chairman, officer, or agent has a private or 
personal interest sufficient to appear to influence the objective exercise of his or her official duties. A 
conflict of interest represents a divergence between a person covered by this policy and their private 
interests and their professional obligations to the Putnam County Transit such that an independent 
observer might reasonably question whether the individual’s professional actions or decisions are 
determined by considerations of personal gain, financial or otherwise. 
 
Financial Interest – An officer, agent, Board Member Chairman, his or her partner, employee, or their 
immediate family, is considered as having a financial interest in a company if:  they receive more than 
$10,000 in consulting income, salaries, or equity in the company; they have more than 5 percent equity 
in the company; they have intellectual property rights in or receive royalties from the company; or they 
serve as a director, officer, partner, trustee, manager or employee of the company. 
 
Immediate Family – Immediate family includes an employee’s spouse, grandparent, parent, brother, 
sister, child or grandchild, his or her partner. 
 
 
2.3. Applicability 
 
No employee, elected official, agent, or other individual under an employment contract with Putnam 
County, or his or her immediate family member, partner, or organization that employs or is about to 
employ any of the foregoing may participate in the selection, award, or administration of a contract 
supported with FTA assistance if a conflict of interest, real or apparent, would be involved.  
 
Such a conflict would arise when any of those previously listed individuals has a financial or other 
interest in the firm selected for award. 
 
 

32



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 9 
Section 2:  Code Of Ethics And Conflict Of Interest Policy 

 
2.4. Gifts 
 
Any contractor, subcontractor, or supplier who has a contract with the County; has performed under 
such a contract within the past year; or anticipates bidding on such a contract in the future shall be 
prohibited from making gifts or to providing favors to any individual defined in Section 2.2. who is 
charged with the duty of: 
 

• Preparing plans, specifications, or estimates for public contract; or 

• Awarding or administering public contracts; or 

• Inspecting or supervising construction. 
 
Putnam County Transit also prohibits all covered individuals defined in Section 2.2. who perform the 
functions listed above from receiving or accepting any such gift or favor. 
 
 
2.5. Employee Conflicts of Interest 
 
2.5.1. Conflicts of Interest 
 
It shall be a breach of ethical standards for any Putnam County Transit employee to participate directly 
or indirectly in a procurement when the employee knows: 
 

• The employee (or prospective employee that an offer of employment is anticipated or has been 
made) or any member of the employee’s immediate family, board members Chairman, officer, 
agent, his or her partner, has a financial interest pertaining to the procurement; 

• A business or organization in which the employee, or any member of the employee’s immediate 
family, has a financial interest pertaining to the procurement; or 

• Any other person, business or organization with whom the employee or any member of 
employee’s immediate family is negotiating or has an arrangement concerning prospective 
employment is involved in the procurement. 

 
2.5.2. Discovery of Actual or Potential Conflict of Interest (Disqualification and Waiver) 
 
Upon discovery of an actual or potential conflict of interest, an employee participating directly or 
indirectly in a procurement shall: 
 

• Promptly file a written statement of disqualification with the County Manager; and 

• Withdraw from further participation in the procurement. 
 
The employee may, at the same time, request from the County Manager, an advisory opinion as to what 
further participation, if any, the employee may have in the procurement. It shall be at the sole discretion 
of the County Manager to determine if the employee may have any further participation in the 
procurement and, if so, the extent to which the employee may participate. Any employee who fails to 
comply with the provisions of this paragraph may be subject to disciplinary action. 
 

33



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 10 
Section 2:  Code Of Ethics And Conflict Of Interest Policy 

 
2.5.3. Employee Disclosure Requirements 
 
A Putnam County Transit employee, who has reason to believe that he/she or his/her immediate family 
have an interest that may be affected by his/her official acts or actions as a Putnam County Transit 
employee or by the official acts or actions of Putnam County Transit, shall disclose the precise nature 
and value of such interest in a written disclosure statement to the County Manager. The employee’s 
disclosure statement will be reviewed by the County Manager and the County Manager will respond to 
the employee in writing with an opinion as to the propriety of said interest. 
 
In the event that the Transit Director County Manager has reason to believe that he/she or his/her 
immediate family has an interest that may be affected by his/her official acts or actions as a Putnam 
County Transit employee or by the official acts or actions of Putnam County Transit, he/she shall disclose 
the precise nature and value of such interest in a written disclosure statement to the County Manager 
Chairman of the Board. 
 
2.5.4. Confidential Information 
 
A Putnam County Transit employee may not directly or indirectly make use of, or permit others to make 
use of, for the purpose of furthering a private interest, confidential information acquired by virtue of 
their position or employment with Putnam County Transit. 
 
2.5.5. Solicitation Provision 
 
Putnam County Transit shall insert the following provisions in all formal competitive solicitation 
documents for products and services: 
 

These policies shall apply to Putnam County Transit employees involved in procurement. It is a 
breach of ethical standards for any Putnam County Transit employee to participate directly or 
indirectly in a procurement when the employee knows: 

 

• The employee or any member of the employee’s immediate family has a financial 
interest pertaining to the procurement; 

• A business or organization in which the employee, or any member of the employee’s 
immediate family, has a financial interest pertaining to the procurement; or 

• Any other person, business or organization with whom the employee or any member of 
employee’s immediate family is negotiating or has an arrangement concerning 
prospective employment is involved in the procurement. 

 
In addition, any persons acting as members of an evaluation committee for any procurement 
shall, for the purposes of the procurement, be bound by conditions of this Section. Throughout 
the bid/proposal evaluation process and subsequent contract negotiations, offerors shall not 
discuss or seek specific information about this procurement, including but not limited to, the 
contents of submissions, the evaluation process or the contract negotiations, with members of 
any evaluation committee, the Putnam County BOC, or other Putnam County employees other 
than the designated County Manager.” 

 

34



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 11 
Section 2:  Code Of Ethics And Conflict Of Interest Policy 

 
2.6. Organizational Conflicts of Interest 
 
The County Manager and technical personnel are encouraged to work closely with the County Attorney 
to review all situations that appear to have the potential for an organizational conflict of interest. 
 
Organizational conflicts of interest may result in bias and potentially provide an unfair competitive 
advantage to a potential offeror. An organizational conflict of interest occurs due to the type of work to 
be performed under a third-party contract, or because of other activities or relationships such as: 
 

• A contractor is unable, or potentially unable, to render impartial assistance or advice to the 
County; 

• A contractor’s objectivity in performing contract work is or might otherwise be impaired; or 

• A contractor has an unfair competitive advantage. 
 
Bias arises when a contractor is placed in a situation where there may be an incentive to distort advice 
or decisions. Whenever a contract is awarded that involves the rendering of advice, the question must 
always be asked as to whether the potential for a conflict of interest exists for the contractor rendering 
the advice. Putnam County Transit will utilize a "Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement," in its 
solicitation when contracting for services of this nature. 
 
 

35



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 12 
Section 3:  Putnam County Transit Responsibilities Under Federal Law 

3. Putnam County Transit RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER FEDERAL LAW 
 
3.1. Third Party Contracting Capacity 
 
 
Putnam County Transit must maintain adequate technical capacity to carry out its FTA assisted projects 
and comply with Federal rules. Putnam County Transit's third party contracting capability must be 
adequate to undertake its procurements effectively and efficiently in compliance with applicable 
Federal, state, and local requirements.  
 
 
3.2. Contract Administration System 
 
Putnam County Transit must maintain a contract administration system to ensure that it and its third-
party contractors comply with the terms, conditions, and specifications of their contracts or purchase 
orders and applicable Federal, state and local requirements. 
 
3.2.1. Written Procurement Procedures 
 
Putnam County Transit must maintain and follow written procurement procedures that address: 

 
(a) Solicitations – Requirements for Putnam County Transit solicitations are addressed in Section 5. 

 
(b) Necessity – Requirements related to Putnam County Transit's need for products or services are 

addressed in Section 3.2.2. 
 

(c) Lease Versus Purchase – Requirements related to the use of lease or purchase alternatives to 
achieve an economical and practical procurement are addressed in Section 3.2.2 
 

(d) Metric Usage – Requirements related to the acceptance of products and services dimensioned 
in the metric system of measurement are addressed in Section 3.5.2. 
 

(e) Environmental and Energy Efficiency Preferences – Requirements related to preference for 
products and services that conserve natural resources, protect the environment, and are energy 
efficient are addressed in Sections 3.4.3 and 3.4.4. 
 

(f) Procurement Methods – Descriptions of the procurement methods that Putnam County Transit 
may use are included in Section 5. 
 

(g) Legal Restrictions – Descriptions of Federal and state restrictions on Putnam County Transit's 
acquisitions are included in Section 5. 
 

(h) Third Party Contract Provisions – Specific third party contract provisions required for each third 
party contract and flow down requirements to subcontracts are included in Section 3.1 through 
3.7. 

 

36



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 13 
Section 3:  Putnam County Transit Responsibilities Under Federal Law 

(1) Sources – Descriptions of the availability and use of various sources of products and 
services are addressed in Section 4. 

(2) Resolution of Third Party Contracting Issues – Procedures related to the resolution of 
third party contracting issues are included in Section 6.8. 

 
3.2.2. Adequate Third Party Contract Provisions 
 
Putnam County Transit must include provisions in all of its third-party contracts that are adequate to 
form a sound and complete agreement. 
 
3.2.3. Industry Contracts 
 
Putnam County Transit shall not use an industry developed contract or a contract that is provided by a 
bidder or offeror unless it has first evaluated the benefits of the contract. Putnam County Transit shall 
ensure that such contracts include all required Federal provisions but do not include terms and 
conditions that may be unfavorable to Putnam County Transit. 
 
3.2.4. Revenue Contracts 
 
Putnam County Transit may enter into a revenue contract with a third party to generate revenues in 
connection with a transit related activity, or to create business opportunities utilizing an FTA funded 
asset. Any such said contract opportunity will follow a competitive selection procedures and principles 
outlined herein.  
 
3.2.5. Record Keeping 
 
Putnam County Transit must prepare and maintain adequate and readily accessible project performance 
and financial records, covering procurement transactions as well as other aspects of project 
implementation. Putnam County Transit  must maintain these records for five (5) years after Putnam 
County Transit and its subrecipients, if any, have made final payment and all other pending matters are 
closed. Specific record keeping requirements include: 
 

(a) Written Record of Procurement History – Putnam County Transit must maintain and make 
available to GDOT and FTA written records detailing the history of each procurement. For all 
procurements above the micro-purchase level Putnam County Transit must maintain records 
relating to: 

 
(1) Procurement Method – Putnam County Transit must provide its rationale for the 

method of procurement it used for each contract, including a sole source justification 
for any acquisition that does not qualify as competitive; 

(2) Contract Type – Putnam County Transit must state the reasons for selecting the contract 
type it used; 

(3) Contractor Selection – Putnam County Transit must state its reasons for contractor 
selection or rejection; 

(4) Contractor Responsibility – Putnam County Transit must provide a written 
determination of responsibility for the successful contractor; 

37



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 14 
Section 3:  Putnam County Transit Responsibilities Under Federal Law 

(5) Cost or Price – Putnam County Transit must evaluate and state its justification for the 
contract cost or price; and 

(6) Reasonable Documentation – Putnam County Transit must retain documentation 
commensurate with the size and complexity of the procurement. 

(7) Vendor Verification – Putnam County Transit must include verification of acceptance 
with a selected vendor/supplier/manufacturer through the Federal System of Award 
Management (SAM) for each project and associated project file. 

 
(b) Access to Records – Putnam County Transit must provide FTA and GDOT officials, the 

Comptroller General, or any of their representatives, access to and the right to examine and 
inspect all records, documents, and papers, including contracts, related to any FTA project 
financed with Federal assistance. 
 

(c)  Use of Technology/Electronic Commerce – Putnam County Transit may use an electronic 
commerce system to conduct third party procurements. If Putnam County Transit uses an 
electronic commerce system, then the following requirements apply: 
 

(1) Sufficient System Capacity – Putnam County Transit's system must have sufficient 
system capacity necessary to accommodate all Federal requirements for full and open 
competition. 

(2) Written Procedures – Before any solicitation takes place, Putnam County Transit must 
establish adequate written procedures to ensure that all information FTA/GDOT 
requires for project administration is entered into the system and can be made readily 
available to GDOT as needed. 

 
 
3.3. Determination of Needs 
 
Putnam County Transit must maintain and follow adequate procedures for determining the types and 
amounts of products and services it needs to acquire. Putnam County Transit shall comply with the 
following requirements when determining the types and amounts of products and services it needs to 
acquire: 
 
 
3.4. Eligibility 
 
All products and services to be acquired with FTA funds must be eligible under the Federal law 
authorizing the FTA assistance award and any regulations thereunder. All products and services to be 
acquired with FTA funds must also be eligible for support within the scope of the underlying grant or 
cooperative agreement from which the FTA assistance to be used is derived. 
 
 
3.5. Necessity 
 
Putnam County Transit shall adhere to the following standards for avoiding the purchase of duplicative 
and/or unnecessary products and services it does not need. 
 

38



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 15 
Section 3:  Putnam County Transit Responsibilities Under Federal Law 

3.5.1. Unnecessary Reserves 
 
Putnam County Transit shall limit the acquisition of Federally-assisted property and services to the 
amount it needs to support its operations. 
 
3.5.2. Acquisition for Assignment Purposes 
 

Putnam County Transit shall contract only for its current and reasonably expected public 
transportation needs and shall not add quantities or options to third party contracts solely to 
permit assignment to another party at a later date. These limits on assignments, however, do 
not preclude joint procurements that are entered into simultaneously by two or more parties to 
obtain advantages unavailable for smaller procurements. 
 

(a) General Prohibition – Putnam County Transit may contract only for its current and 
reasonably expected public transportation needs and may not add quantities or options 
to third party contracts solely to permit assignment to another party at a later date. 
 

(b) Changes in the Recipient’s Needs – GDOT and FTA recognize that the quantity of 
property or services a recipient reasonably believes it may need at the time of contract 
award may change. Putnam County Transit's later needs might decrease due to changed 
circumstances or honest mistakes. In those situations, Putnam County Transit may 
assign its unneeded contract authority to another entity that would like to acquire the 
property or services. 
 

(c) Exceptions – These limits on assignments, however, do not preclude: 
 

(1) Joint Procurements – Putnam County Transit and one or more other FTA 
recipients may enter into a single procurement at the same time to obtain 
advantages unavailable for smaller procurements. 

(2) Participation in GDOT Sponsored Vehicle Procurements – Putnam County 
Transit may enter into contracts developed by the State of Georgia to acquire 
vehicles. 

 
(d) Procurement Size – For every procurement, Putnam County Transit shall consider 

whether to consolidate or break out the procurement to obtain the most economical 
purchase. Absent efforts to foster greater opportunities for Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprises (DBEs), small and minority firms and women’s business enterprises, Putnam 
County Transit shall not split a larger procurement merely to gain the advantage of 
micro-purchase or small purchase procedures. 

 
(e) Options – Putnam County Transit shall justify, as needed, all option quantities included 

in every solicitation and contract. An option is a unilateral right in a contract by which, 
for a specified time, Putnam County Transit may acquire additional equipment, supplies, 
or services than originally procured. An option may also extend the term of the contract. 

 
(f) Lease Versus Purchase – Putnam County Transit shall review lease versus purchase 

alternatives for acquiring property and shall prepare or obtain an analysis to determine 

39



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 16 
Section 3:  Putnam County Transit Responsibilities Under Federal Law 

the most economical alternative. If Putnam County Transit chooses to lease an asset 
then it must prepare a written comparison of the cost of leasing the asset compared 
with the cost of purchasing or constructing the asset. 

 
(g) Specifications – Putnam County Transit's procurement specifications shall clearly 

describe the products or services to be procured and shall state how the proposals will 
be evaluated. Putnam County Transit's procurement specifications shall not be 
exclusionary, discriminatory, unreasonably restrictive or otherwise in violation of 
Federal or Georgia laws or regulations.  

 
 
3.6. Contractor Responsibilities 
 
Putnam County Transit, in awarding contracts, financed in whole or in part, with FTA financial 
assistance, shall follow guidance in this section to evaluate contractor capabilities to perform the 
contract. 
 
In addition to the Federal rules (2 CFR § 200.318(h)) that require contract awards be made only to 
responsible contractors, Federal transit law at 49 U.S.C. § 5325(j) limits third party contractor awards to 
those contractors capable of successfully performing under the terms and conditions of the proposed 
contract. Before selecting a contractor for award, Putnam County Transit must consider such matters as 
contractor integrity, compliance with public policy, record of past performance, and financial and 
technical resources.  

 
3.6.1. Debarment and Suspension 

 
Debarment and suspension regulations and guidance include the following provisions.  

 
3.6.1.1. DOT Debarment and Suspension Regulations 

 
U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) regulations, “Nonprocurement Suspension and 
Debarment,” 2 CFR Part 1200 apply to each third party contract at any tier of $25,000 or more, 
to each third party contract at any tier for a federally required audit (irrespective of the contract 
amount), and to each third party contract at any tier that must be approved by an FTA official 
irrespective of the contract amount (2 CFR § 1200). Putnam County Transit shall apply DOT’s 
debarment and suspension requirements to itself and each third-party contractor at every tier 
to the extent required by DOT’s regulations that incorporate the requirements of Office of 
Management and Budget (OMB), “Guidelines to Agencies on Governmentwide Debarment and 
Suspension (Nonprocurement)” (2 CFR § 180.  

 
3.6.1.2. System for Award Management 

 
The System for Award Management (SAM) combines Federal procurement systems and the 
Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance into one new system. SAM includes the functionality 
from the following systems: 
 

40



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 17 
Section 3:  Putnam County Transit Responsibilities Under Federal Law 

• Central Contractor Registry (CCR) 

• Federal Agency Registration (Fedreg) 

• Online Representations and Certifications Application 

• Excluded Parties List System (EPLS) 
 
At its discretion, Putnam County Transit may collect a debarment and suspension certification 
from the prospective third party contractor or include a clause in the third party contract 
requiring disclosure. Additionally, it shall be the policy of Putnam County Transit to verify that 
the prospective third party vendor is not listed as a debarred contractor on SAM. 

 
3.6.2. Lobbying Certification and Disclosure 
 
If a third-party contract will exceed $250,000, before awarding the contract, Putnam County Transit will 
obtain a lobbying certification, and if applicable, a lobbying disclosure from a prospective third party 
contractor (see DOT regulations, “New Restrictions on Lobbying,” 49 CFR Part 20, modified as necessary 
by 31 U.S.C. Section 1352). 
 
3.6.3. Additional Requirements 
 
In addition to the requirements outlined above, there are various requirements that may apply to 
Putnam County Transit’s third-party contracts, depending upon the type of procurement and the 
anticipated dollar value of said contract. It is the responsibility of Putnam County Transit to assess each 
procurement and determine the applicable FTA third party terms and conditions that should be included 
in the solicitation and contract documents. FTA Circular 4220.1F, Appendix D, has a matrix stipulating 
these conditions. These conditions may include: 
 

• Federal Civil Rights Laws and Regulations 
o Federal Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) Requirements 
o Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex 
o Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Age 
o Nondiscrimination in Federal Public Transportation Programs 
o Title VI of the Civil Rights Act 
o Environmental Justice 
o Limited English Proficiency (LEP) 
o Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability 

• Socio-Economic Development Regulations 
o Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (DBE) 
o Small and Minority Firms and Women’s Business Enterprises 
o Sensitive Security Information 
o Seat Belt Use 

• Socio-Economic Requirements for the Acquisition of Property and Services 
o Labor Regulations 

▪ Wage and Hour Requirements 
▪ Fair Labor Standards 

• Environmental Protections 
o Environmental Mitigation 

41



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 18 
Section 3:  Putnam County Transit Responsibilities Under Federal Law 

o National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) 
▪ Protections for Parks, Recreation Areas, Wildlife and Waterfowl Refuges, and 

Historic Sites 
▪ Clean Air 
▪ Clean Water 
▪ Recycled Products 
▪ Other Federal Environmental Protection Requirements 

• Energy Conservation 

• Preference for U.S. Property--Buy America 

• Shipments of Property--U.S. Flag Requirements 
o Shipments by Ocean Vessel 
o Shipments by Air Carrier 
o Project Travel--Use of U.S. Flag Air Carriers 

• Technical Restrictions on the Acquisition of Property and Services 
o Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) 
o Metric Measurements 
o Use of $1 Coins 

• Rolling Stock--Special Requirements 
o Accessibility 
o Transit Vehicle Manufacturer Compliance with DBE Requirements 
o Minimum Service Life 
o Spare Ratios 
o Air Pollution and Fuel Economy 
o Pre-award and Post Delivery Review 
o Bus Testing 
o In-State Dealers 
o Basis for Contract Award 
o Five-Year Limitation 

• Public Transportation Services—Special Requirements 
o Protections for Public Transportation Employees 
o Drug and Alcohol Testing 
o Accessibility 
o Charter Service Restrictions 
o School Bus Restrictions 

• Construction – Special Requirements 
o Bonding 
o Bid Guarantee 
o Performance Bond 
o Payment Bond 
o Anti-Kickback 
o Construction Safety 
o Labor Neutrality 
o Prevailing Wages 

 
 

42



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 19 
Section 3:  Putnam County Transit Responsibilities Under Federal Law 

3.7. Bonding 
 
Some procurements may require Putnam County Transit to require the vendor to submit a bid bond, 
performance bond, or payment bond (typically construction projects). When bonding is required, the 
following conditions will apply. 
 
3.7.1. Thresholds 
 
For construction or facility improvement contracts or subcontracts exceeding the Simplified Acquisition 
Threshold, GDOT may accept the bonding policy and requirements of the County provided that GDOT 
has made a determination that the Federal interest is adequately protected. If such a determination has 
not been made, the minimum requirements must be as follows: 
 

3.7.1.1. Bid Guarantee 
 

A bid guarantee from each bidder equivalent to five percent of the bid price. The “bid 
guarantee” must consist of a firm commitment such as a bid bond, certified check, or other 
negotiable instrument accompanying a bid as assurance that the bidder will, upon acceptance of 
the bid, execute such contractual documents as may be required within the time specified. 
 
3.7.1.2. Performance Bond 
 
A performance bond on the part of the contractor for 100 percent of the contract price. A 
“performance bond” is one executed in connection with a contract to secure fulfillment of all 
the contractor's obligations under such contract. 
 
3.7.1.3. Payment Bond 

 
A payment bond on the part of the contractor for 100 percent of the contract price. A “payment 
bond” is one executed in connection with a contract to assure payment as required by law of all 
persons supplying labor and material in the execution of the work provided for in the contract. 

 
3.7.2. Acceptable Sureties 
 
Federal rules for non-governmental recipients requires the non-governmental recipient to obtain 
construction bonds from companies holding certificates of authority as acceptable sureties under 
Department of the Treasury regulations, “Surety Companies Doing Business with the United States,” (31 
CFR Part 223). For a current list of approved sureties, see Department of the Treasury’s Listing of 
Approved Sureties (Department Circular 570). As FTA encourages governmental recipient to require 
similarly acceptable sureties, it shall be the policy of Putnam County Transit to such accept sureties. 
 
3.7.3. Reduced Bonding 
 
Putnam County Transit recognizes that bonding costs can be expensive. Putnam County Transit will 
accept a local bonding policy that conforms to the minimums described in Section 3.4.1. If bonding 
levels are sought at levels less than these amounts, Putnam County Transit must obtain the prior 

43



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 20 
Section 3:  Putnam County Transit Responsibilities Under Federal Law 

approval of GDOT/FTA. GDOT/FTA shall approve such requests only if it determines that Putnam County 
Transit's bonding policy adequately protects the Federal interest in the project. 
 
3.7.4. Excessive Bonding 
 
Putnam County Transit will adhere to FTA’s rules on excessive bonding requirements (FTA Circular 
4220.1F, Chapter IV, § 2h(1)(f)). However, if Putnam County Transit determines it has a material risk of 
loss because of a failure of the prospective contractor, bonding requirements may exceed those 
outlined in Section 3.7.1 only with the prior approval of GDOT/FTA. 
 
 
3.8. Preference for U.S. Property—Buy America 
 
Any construction contract exceeding $150,000 entered into by Putnam County Transit with FTA 
assistance shall include provisions that require the third party contractor to provide property produced 
or manufactured in the United States for use in the construction project that the recipient acquires, 
unless FTA has granted a waiver authorized by those regulations. FTA cautions that its Buy America 
regulations are complex and different from the Federal “Buy American Act” regulations in FAR Subparts 
25.1 and 25.2.  
 
Property that the contractor acquires to perform its construction activities for the recipient, such as 
tools, machinery, and other equipment or facilities, is not covered by FTA’s Buy America requirements 
unless the recipient intends to take possession of that property upon completion of the project. Thus, if 
a third party contractor is acquiring property for its general inventory of equipment or facilities to 
conduct its overall business affairs, Putnam County Transit may enter the cost of that acquisition into its 
calculations of overhead amounts applicable to the FTA assisted project irrespective of whether that 
property would comply with FTA’s Buy America regulations.  
 
 
3.9. Accessibility 

 
Facilities to be used in public transportation service must comply with 42 U.S.C. Sections 12101 et seq. 
and DOT regulations, “Transportation Services for Individuals with Disabilities (ADA),” 49 CFR § 37; and 
Joint ATBCB/DOT regulations, “Americans with Disabilities (ADA) Accessibility Specifications for 
Transportation Vehicles,” 36 CFR § 1192 and 49 CFR § 38. Notably, DOT incorporated by reference the 
ATBCB’s “Americans with Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines” (ADAAG), revised July 2004, which 
include accessibility guidelines for buildings and facilities, and are incorporated into Appendix A to 49 
CFR Part 37. DOT also added specific provisions to Appendix A modifying the ADAAG, with the result that 
buildings and facilities must comply with both the ADAAG and amendments thereto in Appendix A to 49 
CFR Part 37.  
 
 
 

44



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 21 
Section 4:  Sources of Acquisitions 

4. SOURCES OF ACQUISITIONS 
 
4.1. Force Account 
 
Force account means use of Putnam County Transit's own labor forces and equipment to undertake a 
project (typically construction, renovation, or repair). The use of force account labor is a project 
management function, rather than a procurement and contract administration function, except in the 
general sense of the County’s ability to perform work with its own forces rather than contracting with 
another entity to acquire the property or services it needs, and the cost implications of the recipient’s 
decision. Putnam County Transit does not charge force account labor to its FTA grants. 
 
 
4.2. Joint Procurements 
 
Putnam County Transit may participate in joint procurements whereby Putnam County Transit and one 
or more other entities agree from the outset to use a single solicitation document and enter into a single 
contract with a vendor for delivery of products or services. The following requirements apply to Putnam 
County Transit’s participation in joint procurements: 
 

• Solicitation documents may not be drafted for the purpose of accommodating the needs of 
other parties that may later want to participate in the benefits of the contract. 

 

• Putnam County Transit is responsible for ensuring that the joint procurement solicitation and 
contract complies with all Federal requirements and that the solicitation document and contract 
includes all required clauses and certifications. 

 
 
4.3. State or Local Government Purchasing Schedules or Purchasing Contracts 
 
4.3.1. Definition 
 
FTA uses the term “state or local government purchasing schedule” to mean an arrangement that a State 
or local government has established with several or many vendors in which those vendors agree to 
provide essentially an option to the State or local government, and its subordinate government entities, to 
acquire specific property or services in the future at established prices. These arrangements are somewhat 
similar to the General Services Administration’s (GSA) Cooperative Purchasing Program available for 
Federal Government use.  
 
4.3.2. Applicability of Federal Provisions 
 
When obtaining property or services in this manner, Putnam County Transit must ensure all Federal 
requirements, required clauses, and certifications (including Buy America) are properly followed and 
included, whether in the master intergovernmental contract or in the recipient's purchase document. 
While GDOT takes all precautions to ensure that such provision are in the original solicitation and contract 
documents, it is ultimately Putnam County Transit’s responsibility to ensure such documents and 
certifications are obtained. 

45



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 22 
Section 4:  Sources of Acquisitions 

 
If such requirements, clauses, and certifications were not included in the original purchase solicitation and 
contracts, Putnam County Transit may request the vendor to append the required Federal clauses in the 
purchase order or other document that effects the Putnam County Transit's procurement. When this 
method is used, Putnam County Transit shall obtain Buy America certification before entering into the 
purchase order. This method cannot be used to circumvent FTA’s Buy America requirements. 
 
4.3.3. Federal Supply Schedules 
 
Purchases by Putnam County Transit from Federal Supply Schedules established by the U.S. General 
Services Administration (GSA) are limited to the purchase of information technology (IT) products and to 
products and services to facilitate recovery from a major disaster. The following requirements apply to 
Putnam County Transit purchases from GSA schedules: 
 

• Putnam County Transit is authorized to use GSA schedules for purchases of products and 
services to facilitate recovery from a major disaster that is declared by the President of the 
United States. Upon declaration of a major disaster by the President, Putnam County Transit 
may purchase products and services from GSA schedules both in advance and in the aftermath 
of the emergency event. Putnam County Transit shall be responsible for ensuring that the 
products and services acquired will only be used for recovery. 

• Putnam County Transit must ensure that all Federal requirements, required clauses and 
certifications are properly followed and included, whether in the master intergovernmental 
contract or Putnam County Transit's purchase document. 

• Putnam County Transit is required to evaluate the reasonableness of prices obtained from GSA 
schedules. GSA schedule pricing may not be used as a sole or single source for procurement. 
Putnam County Transit may only use GSA schedule pricing as one of multiple pricing sources 
solicited in accordance with its requirements for small purchases described in Section 5. 

 
4.3.4. Existing Contracts 
 
Putnam County Transit may use existing contract rights as an acquisition source. An “existing contract” 
means a contract that, when formed, was intended to be limited to the original parties thereto.  
 

4.3.4.1. Permissible Actions 
 

Within the conditions set forth below, Putnam County Transit may use existing contract rights 
held by another recipient of FTA assistance: 
 

(a) Exercise of Options – Putnam County Transit may use contract options held by another 
recipient of FTA assistance with the following limitations: 

 
(1) Consistency with the Underlying Contract – Putnam County Transit must ensure 

that the terms and conditions of the option it seeks to exercise are substantially 
similar to the terms and conditions of the option as stated in the original 
contract at the time it was awarded. 

(2) Price – Putnam County Transit may not exercise an option unless it has 
determined that the option price is better than prices available in the open 

46



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 23 
Section 4:  Sources of Acquisitions 

market, or that when it intends to exercise the option, the option is more 
advantageous. 

(3) Awards Treated as Sole Source Procurements – The following actions constitute 
sole source awards:  

i. Failure to Evaluate Options Before Awarding the Underlying 
Contract – If a contract has one or more options and those options 
were not evaluated as part of the original contract award, exercising 
those options after contract award will result in a sole source 
award. 

ii. Negotiating a Lower Option Price – Exercising an option after 
Putnam County Transit has negotiated a lower or higher price will 
also result in a sole source award unless that price can be 
reasonably determined from the terms of the original contract, or 
that price results from Federal actions that can be reliably 
measured.  

 
(b) Assignment of Contract Rights (“Piggybacking”) – If Putnam County Transit finds that it 

has inadvertently acquired contract rights in excess of its needs, it may assign those 
contract rights to another GDOT subrecipient if the original contract contains an 
assignability provision that permits the assignment of all or a portion of the specified 
deliverables under the terms originally advertised, competed, evaluated, and awarded, 
or contains other appropriate assignment provisions. Putnam County Transit may use 
contractual rights through assignment from another recipient of FTA assistance after 
first determining the contract price remains fair and reasonable, and the contract 
provisions are adequate for compliance with all Federal requirements. Putnam County 
Transit need not perform a second price analysis if a price analysis was performed for 
the original contract; however, Putnam County Transit must determine whether the 
contract price or prices originally established are still fair and reasonable before using 
those rights. Putnam County Transit shall be responsible for ensuring the contractor’s 
compliance with FTA’s Buy America requirements and execution of all the required pre-
award and post-delivery Buy America review certifications. Before proceeding with the 
assignment, however, Putnam County Transit shall review the original contract to be 
sure that the quantities the assigning recipient acquired, coupled with the quantities 
that Putnam County Transit seeks, do not exceed the amounts available under the 
assigning recipient’s contract. 
 

4.3.4.2. Impermissible Actions 
 

Putnam County Transit may not use Federal assistance to finance: 
 

(a) Improper Contract Expansion – A contract has been improperly expanded when it 
includes a larger scope, greater quantities, or options beyond the recipient’s reasonably 
anticipated needs. A contract has also been improperly expanded when excess capacity 
has been added primarily to permit assignment of those contract rights to another 
entity. 

 

47



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 24 
Section 4:  Sources of Acquisitions 

(b) Cardinal Changes – A significant change in contract work that causes a major deviation 
from the original purpose of the work or the intended method of achievement, or 
causes a revision of contract work so extensive, significant, or cumulative that, in effect, 
the contractor is required to perform very different work from that described in the 
original contract, is a cardinal change or “tag-on”. A change within the scope of the 
contract is not a cardinal change or “tag-on”. 

 
 

4.4. The Open Market 
 
Putnam County Transit will acquire most of the property and services it needs through procurements in 
the open market using procedures described in Section 5 of this Manual. 
 
 
 
 
  

48



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 25 
Section 5:  Procedures for Open Market Procurements 

5. PROCEDURES FOR OPEN MARKET PROCUREMENTS 
 
5.1. Solicitation of Competitive Price Quotes, Bids or Proposals 
 
Compliance with the solicitation procedures described in Section 5.4 below will fulfill FTA requirements 
for “full and open competition.” 
 
 
5.2. Receipt and Evaluation of Unsolicited Proposals 
 
Putnam County Transit may enter into contracts based on an unsolicited proposal when authorized by 
applicable State law or regulation. Receipt of an unsolicited proposal does not, by itself, justify contract 
award without providing for full and open competition. Unless the unsolicited proposal offers a 
proprietary concept that is essential to contract performance, Putnam County Transit must seek 
competition. To satisfy the requirement for full and open competition, Putnam County Transit must take 
the following actions before entering into a contract resulting from an unsolicited proposal: 
 

• Publicize its receipt of the unsolicited proposal; 

• Publicize an adequate description of the products or services offered without improperly 
disclosing proprietary information or disclosing the originality of thought or innovativeness of 
the products or services sought; 

• Publicize its interest in acquiring the products or services described in the proposal; 

• Provide an adequate opportunity for interested parties to comment or submit competing 
proposals; and 

• Publicize its intention to award a contract based on the unsolicited proposal or another proposal 
submitted in response to the publication. 

 
If it is impossible to describe the products or services offered without revealing proprietary information 
or disclosing the originality of thought or innovativeness of the products or services sought, Putnam 
County Transit may make a sole source award to the offeror. A sole source award may not be based 
solely on the unique capability of the offeror to provide the specific products or services proposed.  
 
 
5.3. Prequalification 
 
Putnam County Transit may prequalify bidders, offerors, and products for procurement purposes; 
however, Putnam County Transit is not required to do so. The decision of whether to require 
prequalification for eligibility to participate in procurement shall be made separately for every 
procurement and shall be approved by the Procurement Manager. 
 
If Putnam County Transit opts to prequalify bidders, offerors, and products for procurement purposes, 
the following conditions apply:  
 

• Putnam County Transit must ensure that all prequalification lists it uses are current; 

• Putnam County Transit must ensure that all prequalification lists it uses include enough qualified 
sources to provide maximum full and open competition; and 

49



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 26 
Section 5:  Procedures for Open Market Procurements 

• Putnam County Transit must permit potential bidders or offerors to qualify during the 
solicitation period (from the issuance of the solicitation to its closing date). Putnam County 
Transit is not required to hold a particular solicitation open to accommodate a potential supplier 
that submits products for approval before or during that solicitation nor must Putnam County 
Transit expedite or shorten prequalification evaluations of bidders, offerors, or products 
presented for review during the solicitation period. 

 
 
5.4. Solicitation Requirements and Restrictions 
 
Every procurement solicitation that Putnam County Transit issues above the micro-purchase level 
(currently established in Federal guidance at $10,000), must include the following information and be 
advertised in a manner that ensures adequate and open competition. 
 
5.4.1. Description of the Property or Services 
 
The solicitation and the contract awarded thereunder must include a clear and accurate description of 
Putnam County Transit's technical requirements for the products or services to be acquired in a manner 
that provides for full and open competition. 
 

5.4.1.1. Descriptive Elements 
 

Putnam County Transit will prepare descriptions of property, goods, or service in terms of 
functions to be performed or level of performance required, including the range of acceptable 
characteristics or minimum acceptable standards. Detailed product specifications should be 
avoided if at all possible; however, there is no prohibition against their use when appropriate. 

 
5.4.1.2. Quantities 

 
Additional quantities or options above Putnam County Transit's needs at the time of acquisition 
may not be added to contracts solely to allow assignment of those quantities or options at a later 
date. 

 
5.4.1.3. Brand Name or Equal 

 
When it is impractical or uneconomical to provide a clear and accurate description of the technical 
requirements of the property to be acquired, a “brand name or equal” description may be used 
to define the performance or other salient characteristics of a specific type of property. The salient 
characteristics of the named brand that bidders or offerors must provide must be identified. 

 
5.4.1.4. Prohibited Practices 

 
Solicitations with requirements that contain features that unduly restrict competition may not be 
used. Putnam County Transit shall not: 
 

• Impose unreasonable business requirements for bidders or offerors. 

• Impose unnecessary experience requirements for bidders and offerors. 

50



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 27 
Section 5:  Procedures for Open Market Procurements 

• Use prequalification procedures that conflict with the prequalification standards 
described in Section 5.3. 

• Make a noncompetitive award to any person or firm on a retainer contract with Putnam 
County Transit if that award is not for the property or services specified for delivery under 
the retainer contract. 

• Impose unreasonable restrictive bonding requirements on bidders and offerors in excess 
of FTA and state requirements. 

• Specify only a “brand name” product without allowing offers of an “equal” product, or 
allowing an “equal” product without listing the salient characteristics that the “equal” 
product must meet to be acceptable for award. 

• Specify in-state or local geographical preferences, or evaluating bids or proposals in light 
of in-state or local geographic preferences, even if those preferences are imposed by 
State or local laws or regulations. The only exception expressly mandated or encouraged 
by Federal law that may be applicable to Putnam County Transit is the procurement of 
Architectural and Engineering (A&E) Services. Geographic location may be a selection 
criterion in the procurement of A&E services if an appropriate number of qualified firms 
are eligible to compete for the contract in view of the nature and size of the project. 

• Engage in practices that result in organizational conflicts of interest. An organizational 
conflict of interest occurs when any of the following circumstances arise:  

o Lack of Impartiality or Impaired Objectivity – When the bidder or offeror is 
unable, or potentially unable, to provide impartial and objective assistance or 
advice to Putnam County Transit due to other activities, relationships, contracts, 
or circumstances. 

o Unequal Access to Information – When the bidder or offeror has an unfair 
competitive advantage through obtaining access to nonpublic information during 
the performance of an earlier contract. 

o Biased Ground Rules – When during the conduct of an earlier procurement, the 
bidder or offeror has established the ground rules for a future procurement by 
developing specifications, evaluation factors, or similar documents. 

• Support or acquiesce in noncompetitive pricing practices between firms or between 
affiliated companies. 

• Take any arbitrary action in the procurement process.  
 
5.4.2. Evaluation Factors. 
 
All solicitations issued by Putnam County Transit shall identify all factors to be used in evaluating bids or 
proposals. At the discretion of the County Manager, the relative order of importance and/or weights 
may be communicated to prospective offerors. 
 
5.4.3. Permissible Contract Types 
 
Putnam County Transit shall state the type of contract that will be awarded in all solicitation documents. 
The following types of contracts will typically be executed with the successful vendor: 
 

51



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 28 
Section 5:  Procedures for Open Market Procurements 

5.4.3.1. Firm Fixed Price 
 

A firm fixed price contract includes a price that remains fixed irrespective of the contractor’s cost 
experience in performing the contract. A firm fixed price contract may include an economic price 
adjustment provision, incentives, or both. 

 
5.4.3.2. Cost Reimbursement 

 
A cost-reimbursement contract provides for payment of the contractor’s allowable incurred costs, 
to the extent prescribed in the contract. Allowable costs may include incentives if the recipient 
believes they can prove helpful. Cost-reimbursement contracts are suitable for use only when 
uncertainties involved in contract performance do not permit costs to be estimated with sufficient 
accuracy to use any type of fixed price contract. 

 
5.4.4. Prohibitive or Restricted Contract Types 
 
The following contract types are prohibited or restricted: 
 

5.4.4.1. Cost Plus Percentage of Cost 
 

Cost plus Percentage of Cost type contracts are prohibited. 
 

5.4.4.2. Time and Materials 
 

Time and Materials type contracts may be used only after a written determination is made that 
no other contract type is suitable. In addition, the contract between Putnam County Transit and 
the Contractor must specify a ceiling price that the Contractor may not exceed except at its own 
risk. 

 
5.4.5. Other Federal Requirements Affecting the Property or Services to be Acquired 
 
The solicitation and resulting contract must identify those Federal requirements that will affect contract 
scope and performance. 
 
5.4.6. Other Federal Requirements Affecting the Bidder or Offeror and the Contractor 
 
The solicitation and resulting contract must identify all Federal requirements that a bidder or offeror must 
fulfill before and during contract performance. 
 
5.4.7. Reservation of Right to Award to Other Than the Low Bidder or Offeror 
 
The solicitation must specifically reserve Putnam County Transit right to award a contract to other than 
the low bidder or offeror. If the solicitation documents do not specify this right, Putnam County Transit 
will be obligated to award the contract to the low bidder. 
 

52



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 29 
Section 5:  Procedures for Open Market Procurements 

5.4.8. Reservation of Right to Reject All Bids or Offers 
 
The solicitation must specifically reserve Putnam County Transit's right to reject all bids or offers. 
 
 
5.5. Methods of Procurement 
 
Putnam County Transit shall use competitive procedure(s) appropriate for the acquisition undertaken. 
The procedures used must comply with Georgia and local law as well as with Federal requirements. 
Federal restrictions vary with the type of procurement method used. The following guidance is based on 
the requirements of the Common Grant Rule for governmental recipients 2 CFR § 200.318 – 200.326, 
supplemented by FTA policies that address the needs of FTA recipients. 
 
5.5.1. Micro-Purchases 

 
5.5.1.1. Definition 

 
Micro-purchases are those purchases of products and services that cost $3,000 $10,000 or less, 
as defined by 2 CFR §200.67 (or current threshold established by Federal Acquisition Regulations 
(FAR)); for purposes of this policy, Putnam County Transit will use $3,000 as the threshold for 
relatively simple purchases as a means to expedite the completion of its lowest-dollar small 
purchase transactions and minimize the associated administrative burden and cost. 

 
5.5.1.2. Approval Authority 

 
Micro-purchases must be approved in writing by one of the following Putnam County Transit 
employees: 
 

• County Manager; or 

• Transit Manager. 
 

5.5.1.3. Competition 
 

Putnam County Transit may acquire products and services valued at less than $3,000 without 
obtaining competitive quotations. Micro-purchases should be distributed equitably among 
qualified suppliers. 
 
Micro purchases are exempt from FTA’s Buy America requirements. Davis-Bacon prevailing 
wage requirements, however, will apply to construction contracts exceeding $2,000, even 
though the recipient uses micro-purchase procurement procedures.  

 
5.5.1.4. Prohibited Divisions 

 
The size or dollar value of procurements may not be divided or reduced merely to come within 
the micro purchase limit. The only allowable exception to this restriction is for the express 
purpose of fostering greater participation of DBEs, small and minority firms and women’s 
business enterprises in Putnam County Transit's Federally-assisted procurements. 

53



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 30 
Section 5:  Procedures for Open Market Procurements 

 
5.5.1.5. Documentation 

 
Every micro-purchase must be accompanied by a written determination that the price is fair and 
reasonable and a description of how that determination was made. 

 
5.5.2. Small Purchases 
 

5.5.2.1. Definition 
 

FTA defines small purchases are those purchases of products and services, including 
construction services, that cost greater than $3,000 $10,000 but not more than $150,000 
$250,000. For purposes of this policy, Putnam County Transit will consider small purchase those 
that cost greater than $5,000 but not more than $10,000. 
 
5.5.2.2. Approval Authority 

 
Small purchases must be approved in writing by one of the following Putnam County employees: 

 

• County Manager; and/or 

• Chairman of the Board. 
 

5.5.2.3. Required Competition 
 

Price or rate quotations must be obtained from an adequate number of qualified sources. It is 
the responsibility of Putnam County Transit to ensure that an adequate number of quotations, 
bids, or proposals are received  

 
5.5.2.4. Prohibited Divisions 

 
The size or dollar value of procurements may not be divided or reduced merely to come within 
the small purchase limit. The only allowable exception to this restriction is for the express 
purpose of fostering greater participation of DBEs, small and minority firms and women’s 
business enterprises in Putnam County Transit's Federally-assisted procurements  

 
5.5.2.5. Documentation 

 
Every small purchase must be documented in the grantee’s written procurement history file. 
The level of documentation is stipulated in Section 6.6.1. 
 
For small purchases, price quotations may be oral or written. 
 
5.5.2.6. Special Considerations 

 
Putnam County Transit may acquire products and services directly from State contract vendors 
in lieu of competitively procuring such products and services itself through the small purchase 
method of procurement. 

54



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 31 
Section 5:  Procedures for Open Market Procurements 

 
Putnam County Transit reserves the right to use formal purchase methods, even if small 
purchase thresholds are met, if the County Manager believes it is in the best interests of the 
Putnam County Transit to do so. 

 
5.5.3. Formal Purchases 
 

5.5.3.1. Definition 
 

Formal purchases are those purchases of products and services that cost greater than the 
current Federal threshold of $150,000 $250,000. For purposes of this policy, Putnam County 
Transit will use formal procedures for all purchases over $10,000. 

 
5.5.3.2. Approval Authority 

 
Large purchases must be approved in writing by the following Putnam County Transit employees 
or officials: 
 

• County Manager; or 

• Chairman of the Board. 
 

No further delegation of approval authority for large purchases may be made. 
 

5.5.3.3. Procurement Methods 
 

There are two primary methods of procurement for large purchases of products and services: 
 

• Sealed Bid method; and 

• Competitive Proposal method. 
 

5.5.3.4. Required Competition 
 

Formal bids and competitive proposals must be publicly advertised. 
 
For formal purchases by the sealed bid method of procurement, two or more responsible 
bidders must be willing and able to compete effectively for the business. 
 
For formal purchases by the competitive proposal method of procurement, two or more 
offerors must be willing and able to submit an offer or proposal. 

 
5.5.3.5. Required Documentation 

 
Every formal purchase must, at a minimum, be supported by a written independent cost 
estimate, formal bids or proposals, a written cost or price analysis as appropriate, a written 
justification and detailed rationale for contractor selection (including application of evaluation 
criteria) and a written determination of the responsibility of the contractor. Additional 

55



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 32 
Section 5:  Procedures for Open Market Procurements 

documentation requirements are dependent upon the formal procurement method that is 
utilized to make the purchase. 

 
5.5.3.6. Special Considerations 

 
Putnam County Transit may acquire products and services via QPA state contract in lieu of 
competitively procuring such products and services itself through the sealed bid and 
competitive proposal methods of procurement. 

 
5.5.3.7. Procedural Methods for Sealed Bids 

 
The sealed bid method of procurement is a formal method in which bids are publicly solicited 
and a firm fixed price contract is awarded to the responsible bidder whose bid, conforming to all 
the material terms and conditions of the Invitation for Bids (IFB), is lowest in price. The vehicle 
through which bids are solicited is an IFB. The IFB document contains technical specifications for 
the product or service to be purchased, a description of the procedures for submitting a bid, and 
the forms on which bids must be submitted. 

 
(a) When Appropriate – The sealed bid method of procurement is the preferred method for 

acquiring products and services that, including construction services, cost greater than  
$100,000 $10,000. The sealed bid method of procurement may also be used for small 
purchases if it is determined to be appropriate. The sealed bid method of procurement 
is appropriate if the following conditions apply: 
 

(1) Precise Specifications – A complete, adequate, precise, and realistic 
specification or purchase description is available. 

(2) Adequate Sources – Two or more responsible bidders are willing and able to 
compete effectively for the business. 

(3) Fixed Price Contract – The procurement generally lends itself to a firm fixed 
price contract. 

(4) Price Determinative – The successful bidder can be selected on the basis of price 
and those price-related factors listed in the solicitation including, but not limited 
to, transportation costs, life cycle costs, and discounts expected to be taken. 
Apart from responsibility determinations, contractor selection may not be 
determined on the basis of other factors whose costs cannot be measured at 
the time of award. 

(5) Discussions Unnecessary – Discussions with one or more bidders after bids have 
been submitted are expected to be unnecessary as award of the contract will be 
made based on price and price-related factors alone.  

 
(b) Requirements for Sealed Bids – The following requirements apply to the sealed bid 

method of procurement: 
(1) Publicity – The Invitation for Bids must be publicly advertised. 

i. The County Manager shall ensure that sufficient time is allowed to 
prepare bids before the date of bid opening. 

56



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 33 
Section 5:  Procedures for Open Market Procurements 

ii. Notice of bidding opportunities may be provided in other ways in 
addition, but not as a substitute, to a published notice. The methods 
may include, but not necessarily be limited to: 

a. Direct notice, based on compiled vendor lists or from pre-
qualification list, sent to prospective offerors; or 

b. Use of advertisement by electronic means. 
(2) Adequate Sources – Bids must be solicited from an adequate number of 

known suppliers. 
(3) Adequate Specifications – The Invitation for Bids, including any 

specifications and pertinent attachments, must describe the property or 
services sought in sufficient detail that a prospective bidder will be able to 
submit a proper bid. 

(4) Sufficient Time – Bidders must be allowed sufficient time to prepare bids 
before the date of bid opening. 

(5) Public Opening – All bids must be publicly opened at the time and place 
prescribed in the Invitation for Bids. 

(6) Fixed Price Contract – A firm fixed price contract must be awarded in writing 
to the lowest responsive and responsible bidder unless the Invitation for 
Bids specifically allowed for award of a fixed price incentive contract or the 
inclusion of an economic price adjustment provision. 

(7) Rejection of Bids – Any or all bids may be rejected if there is a sound, 
documented business reason.  

 
5.5.3.8. Competitive Proposals 

 
The competitive proposal method of procurement is a formal method in which written 
proposals are publicly solicited and a contract is awarded to the responsible offeror whose 
proposal, taking into consideration price and other factors, is considered to be the most 
advantageous to Putnam County Transit or that is considered to be the “best value” to Putnam 
County Transit. The vehicle through which proposals are solicited is Request for Proposals (RFP). 
The RFP document contains technical specifications for the product or service to be purchased, 
a description of the procedures for submitting a proposal and the forms on which proposals 
must be submitted, if applicable. 
 

(a) When Appropriate – The competitive proposal method of procurement is appropriate 
for the acquisition of products and services that cost greater than $90,000 $10,000 
when the nature of the procurement does not lend itself to sealed bidding and Putnam 
County Transit expects that more than one source will be willing and able to submit a 
proposal. The competitive proposal method of procurement may also be used for small 
purchases if it is determined to be appropriate. The competitive proposal method of 
procurement may not be used for the procurement of construction services. The 
competitive proposal method of procurement is appropriate when any of the following 
circumstances are present: 
 

(1) Type of Specifications – The products or services to be acquired are 
described in a performance or functional specification, or if described in 
detailed technical specifications, other circumstances such as the need for 

57



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 34 
Section 5:  Procedures for Open Market Procurements 

discussions or the importance of basing contract award on factors other 
than price alone are present. 

(2) Uncertain Number of Sources – Uncertainty about whether more than one 
bid will be submitted in response to an Invitation for Bids. 

(3) Price Alone Not Determinative – Due to the nature of the procurement, 
contract award need not be based exclusively on price or price-related 
factors. 

(4) Discussions Expected – Separate discussions with individual offerors are 
expected to be necessary after they have submitted their proposals. 

 
(b) Requirements for Competitive Proposals – The following requirements apply to the 

competitive proposal method of procurement: 
(1) Publicity – The Request for Proposals must be publicly advertised. 
(2) Evaluation Factors – All evaluation factors and their relative importance 

must be specified in the solicitation, but numerical or percentage ratings or 
weights need not be disclosed. 

(3) Adequate Sources – Proposals must be solicited from an adequate number 
of qualified sources. 

(4) Evaluation Method – A specific method must be established and used to 
conduct technical evaluations of the proposals received and to determine 
the most qualified offeror. 

(5) Price and Other Factors – An award must be made to the responsible 
offeror whose proposal is most advantageous to Putnam County Transit or 
that represents the “best value” to Putnam County Transit with price and 
other factors considered. 

(6) Best Value – Putnam County Transit may award a contract to the offeror 
whose proposal provides the greatest value to Putnam County Transit. To 
do so, the solicitation must inform potential offerors that the award will be 
made on a “best value” basis and identify what factors will form the basis 
for award. Putnam County Transit must base its determination of which 
proposal represents the “best value” on an analysis of the tradeoff of 
qualitative technical factors and price or cost factors.  

 
5.5.3.9. Two-Step Procurements 

 
Putnam County Transit may use two-step procurement procedures in both sealed bid and 
competitive proposal procurements, provided the opportunity for full and open competition is 
retained. 
 

(a) Review of Technical Qualifications and Approach – The first step is a review of the 
prospective contractors’ technical approach to Putnam County Transit's request and 
their technical qualifications to carry out that approach followed by the establishment 
of a competitive range consisting of prospective contractors that demonstrate a 
technically satisfactory approach and have satisfactory qualifications. 

 
(b) Review of Bids and Proposals Submitted by Qualified Prospective Contractors – The 

second step consists of soliciting and reviewing complete bids or proposals, including 

58



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 35 
Section 5:  Procedures for Open Market Procurements 

price, submitted by each prospective contractor determined to be qualified. Absent 
exceptional circumstances, bids or proposals must be solicited from at least three 
qualified prospective contractors.  

 
5.5.3.10. Architectural and Engineering (A&E) Services and Other Services 

 
FTA’s enabling legislation at 49 U.S.C. § 5325(b)(1) requires the use of the qualifications-based 
procurement procedures contained in the “Brooks Act,” 40 U.S.C. § 1101 through 1104, to 
acquire A&E services. 
 

(a) Qualifications-Based Procurement Procedures Required – Putnam County Transit must 
use qualifications-based procurement procedures to acquire architectural and 
engineering (A&E) services as well as certain other services that are directly in support 
of, directly connected to, directly related to, or lead to construction, alteration, or repair 
of real property. In addition to A&E services, other services that must be procured by 
qualifications-based procurement procedures include: 
 

• Program management; 

• Construction management; 

• Feasibility studies; 

• Preliminary engineering; 

• Design, architectural, engineering; 

• Surveying, mapping; and 

• Other related services.  
 

The nature of the work to be performed and its relationship to construction, not the 
nature of the prospective contractor, determine whether qualifications-based 
procurement procedures may be used. 

 
(b) Qualifications-Based Procurement Procedures Prohibited – Unless FTA determines 

otherwise in writing, qualifications-based procurement procedures may not be used to 
acquire other types of services if those services are not directly in support of, directly 
connected to, directly related to, or do not lead to construction, alteration, or repair of 
real property. Qualifications-based procurement procedures may not be used for actual 
construction, alteration or repair to real property. 
 

(c) Qualifications-Based Procurement Procedures – The following procedures apply to 
qualifications-based procurements: 

 
(1) Qualifications – Unlike other two-step procurement procedures in which price is 

an evaluation factor, an offeror’s qualifications are evaluated to determine 
contract award. 

(2) Price – Price is excluded as an evaluation factor. 
(3) Most Qualified – Price negotiations are first conducted with only the most 

qualified offeror. 

59



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 36 
Section 5:  Procedures for Open Market Procurements 

(4) Next Most Qualified - Only after failing to agree on a fair and reasonable price 
may negotiations be conducted with the next most qualified offeror. Then, if 
necessary, negotiations with successive offerors in descending order may be 
conducted until contract award can be made to the offeror whose price the 
recipient believes is fair and reasonable. 

 
 
5.6. Procurement by Other Than Full and Open Competition 
 
Normally, Putnam County Transit must provide for full and open competition when soliciting bids or 
proposals. Federal regulations at 2 CFR § 200.320(f)(1) – (4), however, acknowledges that under certain 
circumstances, a recipient may conduct procurements without providing for full and open competition.  
 
5.6.1. When Appropriate 
 
Noncompetitive procurement procedures may only be used when the procurement is inappropriate for 
small purchase procedures, sealed bids, or competitive proposals, and at least one of the following 
circumstances are present: 
 

5.6.1.1. Competition Adequacy 
 

After soliciting several sources and receiving an inadequate response, Putnam County Transit 
shall review its specifications to determine if they are unduly restrictive or if changes can be 
made to encourage submission of more price quotes, bids or proposals. If Putnam County 
Transit determines that the specifications are not unduly restrictive and changes cannot be 
made to encourage greater competition, Putnam County Transit may determine the original 
competition adequate and complete the purchase from among the sources that submitted a 
price quote, bid or proposal. A cost analysis must be performed in lieu of a price analysis when 
this situation occurs. 
 
5.6.1.2. Sole Source 

 
When Putnam County Transit requires products or services available from only one responsible 
source, and no other products or services will satisfy its requirements, Putnam County Transit 
may make a sole source award. In addition, when Putnam County Transit requires an existing 
contractor to make a change to its contract that is beyond the scope of that contract, Putnam 
County Transit will consider the change a sole source award that must be justified. Sole source 
awards are only appropriate when one of the following conditions apply: 

 
(a) Unique Capability or Availability – The products or services are available from only one 

source if one of the conditions described below is present: 
 

(1) Unique or Innovative Concept – The offeror demonstrates a unique or 
innovative concept or capability not available from another source. Unique or 
innovative concept means a new, novel, or changed concept, approach, or 
method that is the product of original thinking, the details of which are kept 
confidential or are patented or copyrighted, and is available to Putnam County 

60



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 37 
Section 5:  Procedures for Open Market Procurements 

Transit only from one source and has not in the past been available to Putnam 
County Transit from another source. 

(2) Patents or Restricted Data Rights – Patent or data rights restrictions preclude 
competition. 

(3) Substantial Duplication Costs – In the case of a follow-on contract for the 
continued development or production of highly specialized equipment and 
major components thereof, when it is likely that award to another contractor 
would result in substantial duplication of costs that are not expected to be 
recovered through competition. 

(4) Unacceptable Delay – In the case of a follow-on contract for the continued 
development or production of a highly specialized equipment and major 
components thereof, when it is likely that award to another contractor would 
result in unacceptable delays in fulfilling Putnam County Transit's needs. 
 

(b) Single Bid or Proposal – Upon receiving a single bid or proposal in response to a 
solicitation, Putnam County Transit should determine if competition was adequate. This 
should include a review of the specifications for undue restrictiveness and might include 
a survey of potential sources that chose not to submit a bid or proposal. 
 

(1) Adequate Competition – Competition is adequate when the reasons for a single 
response were caused by conditions beyond Putnam County Transit's control.  

(2) Inadequate Competition – Competition is inadequate when the reasons for a 
single response were caused by conditions within Putnam County Transit's 
control.  

 
(c) Unusual and Compelling Urgency – Putnam County Transit may limit the number of 

sources from which it solicits bids or proposals when Putnam County Transit has such an 
unusual and urgent need for the products or services that Putnam County Transit would 
be seriously injured unless it were permitted to limit the solicitation. Putnam County 
Transit may also limit the solicitation when the public exigency or emergency will not 
permit a delay resulting from competitive solicitation for the products or services. 
 

(d) Authorized by GDOT – Putnam County Transit may request permission from GDOT to 
allow it to use noncompetitive proposals for a particular procurement.  
 

(e) When Prohibited – Less than full and open competition is not justified based on: 
 

(1) Failure to Plan – Putnam County Transit's lack of advance planning, resulting in 
limited competition, is not justification for a sole source or single bid award. 

(2) Limited Availability of Federal Assistance – Concerns about the amount of 
Federal assistance available to support the procurement; 

 
(f) Procurement Procedures – The following requirements apply when Putnam County 

Transit completes a procurement utilizing less than full and open competition:  
 

(1) Potential Sources – Putnam County Transit must solicit offers from as many 
potential sources as is practicable under the circumstances. 

61



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 38 
Section 5:  Procedures for Open Market Procurements 

(2) Sole Source Justification – Putnam County Transit must justify all sole source 
procurements in writing. Sole source procurement justifications must describe 
the reasons for why a sole source procurement is appropriate, state which of 
the authorized justifications listed in Section 5.6.1.2 are applicable, include a 
cost analysis and be signed by the County Manager. If Putnam County Transit 
decides to solicit an offer from only one source, Putnam County Transit must 
justify its decision in writing. The written justification must include the same 
elements as a sole source justification except that it must state which of the 
authorized justifications listed in Section 5.6.1.2 are applicable to the sole 
source purchase. 

(3) Cost Analysis – Putnam County Transit must prepare or obtain a cost analysis 
verifying the proposed cost data, the projections of the data, and the evaluation 
of the costs and profits. A price analysis shall not be adequate to justify a sole 
source purchase. 

 

(g) Exception for Procurement Activities Using Non-FTA Funds – When it is determined by 
the County Manager to be in the best interest of Putnam County Transit, 
noncompetitive procurement procedures may be utilized to acquire professional or 
other transportation-related services that do not involve the use of FTA financial 
assistance. Any such determination must be made in writing and signed by the County 
Manager. 

 

 
5.7. Evaluation Requirements 
 
The following standards shall apply to all evaluations of bids or proposals conducted by Putnam County 
Transit. 
 
5.7.1. General 
 
When evaluating bids or proposals received in response to a solicitation, Putnam County Transit shall 
consider all evaluation factors specified in the solicitation documents and shall evaluate the bids or 
offers proposals only on the evaluation factors included in those solicitation documents. Putnam County 
Transit may not modify its evaluation factors after bids or proposals have been received without re-
opening the solicitation. 
 
5.7.2. Options 
 
The following standards shall apply when awarding contracts that include options: 
 

5.7.2.1. Evaluation Required 
 

In general, Putnam County Transit must evaluate bids or offers for any option quantities or 
periods contained in a solicitation if it intends to exercise those options after the contract is 
awarded. 

 

62



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 39 
Section 5:  Procedures for Open Market Procurements 

5.7.2.2. Evaluation Not Required 
 

Putnam County Transit need not evaluate bids or offers for any option quantities when Putnam 
County Transit does not intend to exercise those options after the contract is awarded or if it 
determines that evaluation would not otherwise be in its best interests. 

 
5.7.2.3. Evaluators 

 
In addition to evaluators with experience in technical or public policy matters related to the 
procurement, other evaluators may also include auditors and financial experts to the extent that 
the County Manager determines would be necessary or helpful. If Putnam County Transit lacks 
qualified personnel within its organization, it may solicit evaluators from other transit 
organizations or may contract for evaluation services. If it does so, the procurement procedures 
in this policy will apply to those contracts and to those contractors selected to perform 
evaluation functions on behalf of the recipient.  

 
 
5.8. Contract Award Requirements 

 
The following standards shall apply to all contract award decisions made by Putnam County Transit: 

 
5.8.1. Award to Other Than the Lowest Bidder or Offeror 
 
Putnam County Transit may award a contract to other than the lowest bidder if the award furthers an 
objective consistent with the purposes of 49 U.S.C. Chapter 53, including improved long-term operating 
efficiency and lower long-term costs. Putnam County Transit may also award a contract to other than 
the offeror whose price proposal is lowest, when stated in the evaluation factors of the solicitation. In 
both cases, Putnam County Transit must include a statement in its solicitation document reserving the 
right to award the contract to other than the low bidder or offeror. 
 

5.8.1.1. Award Only to a Responsible Bidder or Offeror 
 

Putnam County Transit may only award contracts to responsible contractors possessing the 
ability, willingness, and integrity to perform successfully under the terms and conditions of the 
contract and who demonstrate that its proposed subcontractors also qualify as responsible. 
Putnam County Transit must consider such matters as contractor integrity, compliance with 
public policy, record of past performance and financial and technical resources when making a 
determination of contractor responsibility. Putnam County Transit must also ensure that the 
contractor is not listed as a debarred or suspended contractor on the System for Award 
Management (SAM), which is maintained by the General Services Administration (GSA), at the 
time of contract award. Entities that are listed as debarred or suspended contractors on SAM 
may not be determined to be responsible contractors by Putnam County Transit. For every 
procurement action above the micro-purchase level, Putnam County Transit must make a 
written determination of the responsibility of the contractor and include such determination in 
the applicable contract file (See Section 3.6). 

 

63



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 40 
Section 5:  Procedures for Open Market Procurements 

To designate a prospective contractor “responsible” as required by 49 U.S.C. § 5325, Putnam 
County Transit, at a minimum, must determine and ensure that the prospective contractor 
satisfies the following criteria described herein. In addition to being otherwise qualified and 
eligible to receive the contract award under applicable laws and regulations, a responsible 
contractor: 
 

(a) Integrity and Ethics – Has a satisfactory record of integrity and business ethics, in 
compliance with 49 U.S.C. Section 5325(j)(2)(A). 
 

(b) Debarment and Suspension – Is neither debarred nor suspended from Federal programs 
under DOT regulations, “Nonprocurement Suspension and Debarment,” 2 CFR Parts 180 
and 1200, or under the FAR at 48 CFR Chapter 1, Part 9.4. 
 

(c) Affirmative Action and DBE – Is in compliance with the Common Grant Rules’ affirmative 
action and FTA’s Disadvantaged Business Enterprise requirements. 
 

(d) Public Policy – Is in compliance with the public policies of the Federal Government, as 
required by 49 U.S.C. § Section 5325(j)(2)(B). 
 

(e) Administrative and Technical Capacity – Has the necessary organization, experience, 
accounting, and operational controls, and technical skills, or the ability to obtain them, 
in compliance with 49 U.S.C. Section 5325(j)(2)(D). 
 

(f) Licensing and Taxes – Is in compliance with applicable licensing and tax laws and 
regulations. 
 

(g) Financial Resources – Has, or can obtain, sufficient financial resources to perform the 
contract, as required by 49 U.S.C. Section 5325(j)(2)(D). 
 

(h) Production Capability – Has, or can obtain, the necessary production, construction, and 
technical equipment and facilities. 
 

(i) Timeliness – Is able to comply with the required delivery or performance schedule, 
taking into consideration all existing commercial and governmental business 
commitments. 
 

(j) Performance Record – Is able to provide a:  
 

(1) Current Performance – Satisfactory current performance record; and 
(2) Past Performance – Satisfactory past performance record in view of its records of 

long-time performance or performance with a predecessor entity, including:  
 

i. Sufficient Resources. Key personnel with adequate experience, a parent firm 
with adequate resources and experience, and key subcontractors with 
adequate experience and past performance,  

ii. Adequate Past Experience. Past experience in carrying out similar work with 
particular attention to management approach, staffing, timeliness, technical 

64



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 41 
Section 5:  Procedures for Open Market Procurements 

success, budgetary controls, and other specialized considerations as 
described in the recipient’s solicitation, and  

iii. Any Past Deficiencies Not the Fault of the Bidder or Offeror. A prospective 
bidder or offeror that is or recently has been seriously deficient in contract 
performance is presumed to be non-responsible, unless the recipient 
determines that the circumstances were properly beyond the bidder or 
offeror’s control, or unless the bidder or offeror has taken appropriate 
corrective action. Past failure to apply sufficient tenacity, perseverance, and 
effort to perform acceptably is strong evidence of non-responsibility. Failure 
to meet the quality requirements of a contract is a significant factor to 
consider in determining satisfactory performance. GDOT expects Putnam 
County Transit to consider the number of the bidder or offeror’s contracts 
involved and the extent of deficient performance in each contract when 
making this determination.  

 
5.8.1.2. Rejection of Bids and Proposals 

 
Putnam County Transit may reject all bids or proposals submitted in response to an Invitation 
for Bids or Request for Proposals. Putnam County Transit must include a statement in its 
solicitation document reserving the right to reject all bids or proposals. 
 

(a) Extent and Limits of Contract Award – The selection of a contractor to participate in one 
aspect of a project does not, by itself, constitute a sole source selection of the 
contractor’s wholly owned affiliates to perform other work in connection with the 
project. 

 
 
5.9. Independent Cost Estimate and Cost and Price Analysis 

 
5.9.1. Independent Cost Estimate 
 
For every procurement, Putnam County Transit shall make a written independent estimate of cost prior 
to receiving price quotes, bids or proposals. 
 
5.9.2. Cost or Price Analysis 
 
Putnam County Transit shall perform a cost or price analysis in connection with every procurement 
action above the Federal small acquisition threshold over $250,000 and for all contract modifications. 

 
5.9.2.1. Price Analysis 

 
If Putnam County Transit determines that competition was adequate, a written price analysis, 
rather than a cost analysis, is required to determine the reasonableness of the proposed 
contract price. 

 
 

65



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 42 
Section 5:  Procedures for Open Market Procurements 

5.9.2.2. Cost Analysis 
 

Putnam County Transit must perform or obtain a cost analysis when: 
 

(a) A price analysis will not provide sufficient information to determine the reasonableness 
of the contract cost. 
 

(b) When the offeror submits elements of the estimated cost. 
 

(c) When only a sole source is available, even if the procurement is a contract modification. 
 

(d) In the event of a change order.  
 
5.9.3. Approval of Contracts 
 

All contracts must be signed by the Chairman of the Board.  
 
 
  

66



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 43 
Section 6:  Contract Administration Requirements And Considerations 

6. CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION REQUIREMENTS AND CONSIDERATIONS 
 

6.1. Putnam County Transit Staff Responsibilities 
 
Prior to execution of third party contracts, Putnam County Transit shall designate a Project Manager to 
serve as Putnam County Transit's principal contact with the contractor and as the primary administrator 
of the contract. The designated Project Manager for each contract shall have responsibility for directing 
and overseeing the work performed by the contractor; reviewing and approving deliverables and 
invoices from the contractor; determining percentage of contract completion for progress payments (if 
applicable); making recommendations on the exercise of contract options (if applicable); recommending 
contract changes; preparing justifications for contract changes; performing independent cost estimates 
and cost or price analyses for contract changes; making recommendations on approval or rejection of 
subcontractors; assisting with the resolution of contract disputes; making recommendations on contract 
termination or other contractor disciplinary actions; maintaining complete contract files; and other 
contract administration duties that may be necessary. 
 
 
6.2. Administrative Restrictions on the Acquisition of Property and Services 
 
The following Federal laws and regulations impose administrative requirements, many of which will 
affect specific third party procurements. 
 
6.2.1. Legal Eligibility 
 
The property or services acquired must be eligible for support under the restrictions accompanying the 
Federal statute authorizing the Federal assistance to be used. 
 
6.2.2. Scope of the Project 
 
The property or services acquired must be eligible for support within the scope of the underlying grant 
or cooperative agreement from which the Federal assistance to be used is derived. 
 
6.2.3. Period of Performance 
 
Putnam County Transit will use sound business judgment and be judicious in establishing and extending 
a contract’s period of performance. 
 

6.2.3.1. General Standards 
 

The period of performance generally should not exceed the time necessary to accomplish the 
purpose of the contract. Putnam County Transit will also consider competition, pricing, fairness, 
and public perception. Putnam County Transit's procurement files will document its rationale for 
determining the performance period designated for each contract. 

 
 
 

67



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 44 
Section 6:  Contract Administration Requirements And Considerations 

6.2.3.2. Time Extensions 
 

Consistent with the general tone of FTA Circular 4220.1F, contract time extensions shall be 
considered in light of whether they are permissible changes or impermissible cardinal changes. 
Once Putnam County Transit awards a third party contract, an extension of the contract term 
length that amounts to a cardinal change will require a sole source justification. 

 
6.2.3.3. Authority to Extend 

 
The Chairman of the Board has the sole authority to approve and execute contract 
modifications. The County Manager for the contract shall recommend all contract time; prior to 
making a recommendation for a contract time extension. The County Manager shall prepare a 
written justification and cost analysis (if applicable) for the contract time extension and shall 
negotiate the appropriate contract modification with the contractor.  

 
 
6.3. Federal Cost Principles 
 
Federal rules require project costs to conform to applicable Federal cost principles for allowable costs. In 
general, costs must be necessary and reasonable, allocable to the project, authorized or not prohibited 
by Federal law or regulation, and must comply with Federal cost principles applicable to the recipient. 
 
OMB guidance for grants and agreements, “Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and 
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards,” 2 CFR § 200, applies to project costs incurred Putnam County 
Transit. 
 
 
6.4. Payment Provisions 
 
Putnam County Transit will follow the provisions of this section when using FTA funds to support its 
third party contracts.  
 
6.4.1. Financial Support for the Project 
 
Costs may only be incurred by Putnam County Transit if GDOT has awarded a financial assistance 
contract to Putnam County Transit. 
 

6.4.1.1. Progress Payments 
 

Progress payments are payments for contract work that has not been completed. Putnam 
County Transit may use GDOT assistance to support progress payments provided the recipient 
obtains adequate security for those payments and has sufficient written documentation to 
substantiate the work for which payment is requested.  
 
 
 

68



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 45 
Section 6:  Contract Administration Requirements And Considerations 

6.4.1.2. Adequate Security for Progress Payments 
 

Adequate security for progress payments may include taking title or obtaining a letter of credit 
or taking equivalent measures to protect the recipient’s financial interest in the progress 
payment. Adequate security should reflect the practical realities of different procurement 
scenarios and factual circumstances. Putnam County Transit  should always consider the costs 
associated with providing security (for example, the recipient may need to acquire bonds or 
letters of credit in the commercial marketplace) and the impact of those costs on the contract 
price, as well as the consequences of incomplete performance.  

 
6.4.1.3. Adequate Documentation 

 
Sufficient documentation is required to demonstrate completion of the amount of work for 
which progress payments are made.  
 
6.4.1.4. Percentage of Completion Method 

 
Federal rules require that any progress payments for construction contracts be made on a 
percentage of completion method described therein. Putnam County Transit, however, may not 
make progress payments for other than construction contracts based on this percentage 
method. 

 
 
6.5. Protections Against Performance Difficulties 
 
Putnam County Transit shall include provisions in its third party contracts that will reduce potential 
problems that might occur during contract performance, as follows: 
 
6.5.1. Changes 
 
Putnam County Transit shall include provisions that address changes and changed conditions in all third 
party contracts except for routine supply contracts. 
 
6.5.2. Remedies 
 
Putnam County Transit shall include provisions that address remedies in its third party contracts. 
Provisions related to remedies may include provisions for:  
 

6.5.2.1. Liquidated Damages 
 

Putnam County Transit may use liquidated damages if Putnam County Transit reasonably 
expects to suffer damages through delayed contract completion, or if weight requirements are 
exceeded, and the extent or amount of such damages are uncertain and would be difficult or 
impossible to determine. Rate and measurement standards must be calculated to reasonably 
reflect Putnam County Transit's costs should the standards not be met, and must be specified in 
the solicitation and contract. The assessment for damages may be established at a specific rate 
per day for each day beyond the contract’s delivery date or performance period. A 

69



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 46 
Section 6:  Contract Administration Requirements And Considerations 

measurement other than a day or another period of time, however, may be established if that 
measurement is appropriate, such as weight requirements in a rolling stock purchase. The 
contract file must include a record of the calculation and rationale for the amount of damages 
established. Any liquidated damages recovered must be credited to the project account. 

 
6.5.2.2. Violation or Breach 

 
Third party contracts exceeding $250,000 must include administrative, contractual, or legal 
remedies for violations or breach of the contract by the third party contractor. 

 
6.5.2.3. Suspension of Work 

 
Putnam County Transit may include provisions pertaining to suspension of work in its third party 
contracts. 

 
6.5.2.4. Termination 

 
Termination for cause and termination for convenience provisions must be included in third 
party contracts exceeding $10,000.  

 
 
6.6. Contents of Complete Contract Files 
 
The following documents shall comprise the contents of a complete contract file for procurements 
above the micro-purchase level: 
 
6.6.1. Written Record of Procurement History 
 
Putnam County Transit shall maintain written records detailing the history of the procurement, including 
records relating to: 
 

6.6.1.1. Procurement Method 
 

Putnam County Transit must provide its rationale for the method of procurement it used for 
each contract, including a sole source justification for any acquisition that does not qualify as 
competitive. 
 
6.6.1.2. Contract Type 

 
Putnam County Transit must state the reasons for selecting the contract type it used. 

 
6.6.1.3. Contractor Selection 

 
Putnam County Transit must state its reasons for contractor selection or rejection, including 
written justification and evaluation documents. 

 

70



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 47 
Section 6:  Contract Administration Requirements And Considerations 

6.6.1.4. Contractor Responsibility 
 

Putnam County Transit must provide a written determination of responsibility for the successful 
contractor. 

 
6.6.1.5. Cost or Price 
 
Putnam County Transit must evaluate and state its justification for the contract cost or price, 
including the independent cost estimate and cost or price analysis. 

 
6.6.1.6. Reasonable Documentation 

 
Putnam County Transit must retain documentation commensurate with the size and complexity 
of the procurement, including documents related to solicitation, receipt and evaluation of 
offers, and contract award, negotiation and execution. 

 
 
6.7. Access to Records 
 
Federal rules (49 U.S.C. § 5325(g)) provide FTA and GDOT officials, the Comptroller General, or any of 
their representatives, access to and the right to examine and inspect all records, documents, and 
papers, including contracts, related to any FTA project financed with Federal assistance authorized by 49 
U.S.C. Chapter 53.  
 
 
6.8. Contract Administration and Close-Out Documents 
 
Putnam County Transit shall maintain written records detailing the performance and close-out of the 
contract, including records relating to: 

 
6.8.1. Contractor Performance 
 
Putnam County Transit must maintain documents related to contractor adherence to budget and 
schedule, compliance with contract terms and conditions, DBE participation, progress reports, disputes 
and disciplinary actions. 
 
6.8.2. Contract Deliverables 
 
Putnam County Transit must maintain copies of all contract deliverables and records relating to 
approval, rejection and requested modifications of contract deliverables. 
 
6.8.3. Contract Changes 
 
Putnam County Transit must maintain copies of all contract modifications, including documentation 
related to the determination of need, written justification and rationale, cost analysis, negotiation and 
execution. 
 

71



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 48 
Section 6:  Contract Administration Requirements And Considerations 

 
6.8.4. Contract Payments 
 
Putnam County Transit must retain documentation of invoices, approval of payments, requests for 
modifications to invoices, determination of percentage of contract completion for partial payments (if 
applicable), and ownership of title to partial work products. 
 
6.8.5. Contract Close-Out 
 
Putnam County Transit must retain documentation related to contractor performance and evaluation, 
approval of final deliverables and payments, transfer of title to complete work products to Putnam 
County Transit, and contract audit and final reconciliation. 
 
 
6.9. Protest Procedures 
 
6.9.1. Statement of Policy 

 
Putnam County Transit is responsible for resolving all contractual and administrative issues, including 
protests of evaluations and contract awards, arising out of its third party procurements using good 
administrative practices and sound business judgment. 
 
In general, GDOT will not substitute its judgment for that of Putnam County Transit unless the matter is 
primarily a Federal concern. Nevertheless, GDOT and FTA can become involved in Putnam County 
Transit's administrative decisions when a Putnam County Transit protest decision is appealed to GDOT. 
 
Putnam County Transit shall give timely notification to GDOT when it receives a third party procurement 
protest and will keep FTA informed about the status of any such protest. Putnam County Transit shall 
disclose all information about any third party procurement protest to GDOT upon request. 
 
Putnam County Transit's procedure for addressing third party procurement protests is described in 
Paragraph 6.9.2 below. Putnam County Transit shall insert its protest procedure in all solicitation 
documents for products and services having an estimated value of $100,000 or greater. 
 
6.9.2. Putnam County Transit Staff Responsibilities 
 
The following staff responsibilities shall be assigned in all protests: 
 

• County Manager – Responsibilities include: ensuring that the Putnam County Transit Protest 
Procedure is included in all solicitation documents; and providing information to and assisting 
the Chairman of the Board and the County Attorney with the resolution of protests. 
 

• County Attorney – Responsibilities include: reviewing all procurement protests; and advising and 
assisting the Putnam County Transit as needed with the resolution of all procurement protests. 

 
 

72



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 49 
Section 6:  Contract Administration Requirements And Considerations 

6.9.3. Solicitation Provision 
 
Putnam County Transit shall insert the following provision in all solicitation documents: 
 

6.9.3.1. Pre-Proposal Protests 
 

All protests concerning solicitation specifications, criteria and/or procedures shall be submitted 
in writing (defined as being sent or received via letter or facsimile on official firm/agency 
letterhead or by electronic mail) to the County Manager as specified below not later than ten 
(10) business days prior to the deadline for submission of bids/proposals. 

 
The County Manager  may, within his or her discretion, postpone the deadline for submission of 
bids/proposals, but in any case, shall provide a written response to all protests not later than 
five (5) business days prior to the deadline for submission of bids/proposals. If the deadline for 
submission of bids/proposals is postponed by the County Manager as the result of a protest the 
postponement will be announced through an addendum to the solicitation. 

 
The decision by the County Manager shall be the final agency decision on the matter but shall be 
subject to judicial review as set forth by FTA below. 

 
6.9.3.2. Pre-Award Protests 

 
With respect to protests made after the deadline for submission of bids/proposals but before 
contract award by Putnam County Transit, protests shall be limited to those protests alleging a 
violation of Federal or State law, a challenge to the bids/proposals evaluation and award 
process, Putnam County Transit's failure to have or follow its protest procedures or its failure to 
review a complaint or protest. Such protests shall be submitted in writing (defined as being sent 
or received via letter or facsimile on official firm/agency letterhead or by electronic mail) to the 
County Manager as specified below not later than five (5) business days after the 
Recommendation for Contract Award announcement by Putnam County Transit. 

 
The County Manager may, within his or her discretion, postpone the award of the contract, but 
in any case, shall provide a written response to all protests not later than three (3) business days 
prior to the date that Putnam County Transit shall announce the contract award.  

 
The decision by the County Manager shall be the final agency decision on the matter but shall be 
subject to judicial review as set forth or review by GDOT as specified below. 

 
6.9.4. Requirements for Protests 
 
All protests must be submitted to Putnam County Transit in writing (defined as being sent or received 
via letter or facsimile on official firm/agency letterhead or by electronic mail), with sufficient 
documentation, evidence and legal authority to demonstrate that the Protestor is entitled to the relief 
requested. The protest must be certified as being true and correct to the best knowledge and 
information of the Protestor, and be signed by the Protestor. The protest must also include a mailing 
address to which a response should be sent. 
 

73



 
 
Putnam County Transit Procurement Policy 50 
Section 6:  Contract Administration Requirements And Considerations 

Protests received after the deadlines for receipt of protests specified above are subject to denial 
without any requirement for review or action by Putnam County Transit. 
 
All protests must be directed in writing (defined as being sent or received via letter or facsimile on 
official firm/agency letterhead or by electronic mail) to the County Manager at the address shown in the 
solicitation documents. 
 
6.9.5. Protest Response 
 
The County Manager shall issue written responses to all protests received by the required protest 
response dates. All protest responses shall be transmitted by first-class U.S. Postal Service to the address 
indicated in the protest letter. 
 
For convenience, Putnam County Transit will also send a copy of the response to a protest to the 
Protester by facsimile and/or electronic mail if a facsimile number and/or electronic mail address are 
indicated in the protest letter. The protest response transmitted by U.S. Postal Service shall be the 
official Putnam County Transit response to the protest and Putnam County Transit will not be 
responsible for the failure of the Protester to receive the protest response by either facsimile or 
electronic mail. 
 
6.9.6. Review of Protests by GDOT 
 
All protests involving contracts financed with Federal assistance shall be disclosed to GDOT. Protesters 
shall exhaust all administrative remedies with Putnam County Transit prior to pursuing protests with 
GDOT. GDOT limits its reviews of protests to: a grantee’s failure to have or follow its protest procedures; 
a grantee’s failure to review a complaint or protest when presented an opportunity to do so; or 
violations of Federal law or regulation. Appeals to GDOT must be received within five (5) working days of 
the date the Protester has received actual or constructive notice of Putnam County Transit final decision 
or within five (5) working days of the date the Protester has identified other grounds for appeal to 
GDOT.  
 
 
 
 
 

74



File Attachments for Item:

9. Request by Canal Wood for Waiver of Interest and Penalties (staff-TC)

75



76



77



78



79



File Attachments for Item:

10. Request by John Culpepper to appeal the Planning & Zoning Commission decision of June 10, 2020 

for a rear yard setback variance at 145 Collis Marina Road (staff-P&D)

80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



Request by Mark Smith, agent for Duke Gibbs for a side and rear yard 
setback variance at 145 Collis Marina Road. Presently zoned RM-2. [Map 

104B, Parcel 011, District 3]. 
 

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES: 
 

The Putnam County Planning & Zoning Commission conducted a public hearing on 
Wednesday, June 10, 2020 at 6:30 p.m. in the Putnam County Administration 

Building, 117 Putnam Drive, Room 203, Eatonton, Georgia. 
 
4. Request by Mark Smith, agent for Duke Gibbs for a side and rear yard setback 

variance at 145 Collis Marina Road. Presently zoned RM-2. [Map 104B, Parcel 011, 
District 3].  

  
Although the applicants are seeking a 10-foot side yard setback variance, 
being 10 feet from the left side property line when facing the lake, and a 

35-foot rear yard setback variance being 65 feet from the nearest point to 
the lakes, staff recommendation is for denial of a 10-foot side yard setback 

variance, being 10 feet from the left-side property line when facing the 
lake, and approval a 35-foot rear yard setback variance, being 65 feet from 

the nearest point to the lake at 145 Collis Marina Road [104B, Parcel 011, 
District 3]. 
 

Motion to approve the request by Mark Smith, agent for Duke Gibbs, per staff 
recommendation, for a 35-foot rear yard setback variance, being 65 feet from the 

nearest point to the lake at 145 Collis Marina Road made by Member Farley, 
Seconded by Member Hill 
Voting Yea: Vice Chairman Pierson, Member Hill, Member Farley  

 
 

90



S65°21'27"W53.15'

WOOD
DECK

WOODEN SEAWALL

FLAG

CO
LL

IS
 M

AR
IN

A 
RO

AD

1/2" REBAR

1/2" REBAR

3/8" REBAR

(8
0'

 R
/W

)

3/8" 
REBAR

CONCRETE

RES-GA OCONEE, LLC
D.B. 712 p. 247
P.B. 29 p. 257

W
O

O
DE

N

W
OODEN

 D
OCK

W
OODEN DOCK

DO
CK

PRO
PERTY LIN

E AS SHO
W

N
 O

N
 P.B. 10, p. 180

RIP-RAP

STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT

AREA

STORM
W

ATER

M
ANAGEM

ENT

AREA

BOUNDARY LINE
AS DESCRIBED IN
D.B. 728, p. 190

FH

DASHED LINES
REPRESENT FEATURES

SKETCHED FROM
AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHY
(NOT FIELD LOCATED)

PRO
PERTY LIN

E AS SHO
W

N
 O

N
 P.B. 29, p. 257

LAKE
OCONEE
WATER LEVEL 435.2

AB
AN

DO
N

ED
 P

O
RT

IO
N

 O
F 

R/
W

D.
B.

 7
35

, p
. 6

71

SHORELINE

S5
°1

1'
57

"W
  1

73
.3

1'

S50°21'04"E
28.34'

POLE

S4
°3

8'
49

"W
  1

09
.5

1'

NOF
104B015002

ARROW OCONEE
WATERFRONT, LLC

D.B. 875 p. 155
P.B. 35 p. 122

NOF
104B010

1.43 ACRES
TRACT D

YE
LL

OW
 P

AI
NT

ED

LP TANK

1/2" REBAR
DIST

8" WOOD  SEAWALL

5/8" REBAR
1.5' TALL

WITNESS

WELL
HOUSE

METAL 
SHED

M
O

BI
LE

 H
O

M
E

LP TANKREBAR

M
O

BI
LE

 H
O

M
E

TRANSFORMER

WELL
HOUSE

5/8" 1/2" REBAR
DIST

30' ACCESS EASEM
EN

T

P.B. 10, p. 192 &
 P.B. 19, p. 98

TR
EE

S

N13°41'09"E
124.30'

N49°02'17"W  155.51'

N2
5°

49
'0

1"
E

55
.2

3'

N26°31'51"E
102.47'

S28°35'20"E  157.17'

N21°42'06"W
  218.39'

N21°36'07"W
  94.77'

1/2" OTP

N34°34'20"W
  384.86'

N31°13'23"W
  92.89'

S65°25'17"W79.76'

9' GRAVEL DRIVE

LAKE
OCONEE

N89°55'22"E  107.25'

MOBILE HOME

WOODEN DECK

1/2" 
REBAR

0.46 AC
TRACT C

0.61
TRACT B

0.58 AC
TRACT A

S10°13'45"E  468.84'

WELL
HOUSE

N61°33'46"E
9.33'

N78°24'10"W
104.77'

POST

S55°14'39"E  198.11'

WOODEN
DOCK

WOODEN
DOCK

WOODEN DOCK

1/2" REBAR

S28°51'29"E  171.35'

N
0°10'31"W

  272.31'

N
10°15'19"W

  98.18'

N47°39'37"E  1
63.41'

N13°36'07"E
34.91'

AC

REBAR

P.B. 19, p. 98

15' TRI-COUNTY EM
C R/W

 EASEM
ENT

D.B. 7N, p. 500

GEORGIA POWER COMPANY

TRANSFORMERS

S35°30'54"E  182.95'

FORM
ER PL P.B. 10, p. 192 & P.B. 19, p. 98

10' DRIVEWAY
EASEMENT

30' ACCESS

P.B. 10, p. 180
EASEM

ENT

1/2" OTP DIST

YELLOW
PAINTED

TREES

3/8"

W
O

O
DE

N 
DE

CK

W
OO

DE
N

DE
CK

METAL 

SHED

"ENCLAVE AT LAKE OCONEE"
PROPOSED DESIGN

GPC

1" OTP
1"

1" OTP

OTP

S89°49'51"W
48.98'

N78°29'45"W
37.51'

3/8" REBAR
WITH GPC CAP

5/8" REBAR WITH
YELLOW TPOST

S52°30'40"W
16.85'

TO 1/2" REBAR

S14°13'59"E

125.91'

N89°57'45"E
107.56'

5/8" REBAR

0.31 AC.
GA POWER AREA

**35' LAKE VARIANCE REQUEST*** SNJ
Environmental & Consulting

120 W Marion Street
Eatonton, Ga 31024

Phone: (706) 473-0738
Fax: (706) 991-5166

 Email: snjenvironmental@yahoo.com

CPESC

91

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
N49° 34' 55.00"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
155.590

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
100' M.B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
65' PROPOSED SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUILDING A

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
100' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
VARIANCE NEEDED

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 5

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DECK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DECK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DECK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DECK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DECK

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUILDING B

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DECK

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DECK

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DECK

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DECK

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DECK

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
2020-1000-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
SURVEY DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
6-9-20

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMITHBUILT HOMES

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT C-0.46 ACRES; TRACT D-1.43 ACRES 145 & 147 COLLIS MARINA ROAD 3RD LAND DISTRICT; LAND LOT 337 308TH G.M.D., PUTNAM COUNTY, GEORGIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET #

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
SKETCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
1-800-282-7411

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
,

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTOUR INTERVAL - 2 FT. VERTICAL DATUM - ASSUMED

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE                   1" = 

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
Simone N. Jones

AutoCAD SHX Text
No. 5424

AutoCAD SHX Text
2/20/20



File Attachments for Item:

11. Request by Pete Wardlaw to appeal the Planning & Zoning Commission decision of June 4, 2020 to 

rezone 57 acres to RM3 (staff-P&D)

92



93



94



95



96



97



Request by Howard McMichael, agent for Oconee Overlook, LLC & Lick 
Creek Holding's LLC to rezone 2.14 acres on Collis Road from R-1 to RM-3. 

[Map 104, Parcel 030, District 3] (staff-P&D) 
 

Request by Howard McMichael, agent for Lick Creek Holding's LLC to 
rezone 21.40 acres on Collis Road from AG-1 to RM-3. [Map 104, Parcel 
032001, District 3] (staff-P&D) 

 
Request by Howard McMichael, agent for Mallard's Overlook, LLC to rezone 

29.58 acres on Collis Road from AG-1 to RM-3. [Map 104, Parcel 032, 
District 3] (staff-P&D) 
 

Request by Howard McMichael, agent for Oconee Overlook, LLC & Lick 
Creek Holding's LLC to rezone 3.5 acres on Collis Road from R-1 to RM-3. 

[Map 104, Parcel 033, District 3] (staff-P&D) 
 
Request by Howard McMichael, agent for Oconee Overlook, LLC to rezone 

0.63 acres/27,298 square feet on Doug Lane from R-1 to RM-3. [Map 104B, 
Parcel 001, District 3] (staff-P&D) 

 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES: 
 
The Putnam County Planning & Zoning Commission conducted a public hearing on 

Thursday June 4, 2020 at 6:30 p.m. in the Putnam County Administration Building, 
117 Putnam Drive, Room 203, Eatonton, Georgia. 

 
The following items 14-18 were heard together. 
 

14.Request by Howard McMichael, agent for Oconee Overlook, LLC & Lick 
Creek Holding's LLC to rezone 2.14 acres on Collis Road from R-1 to RM-

3. [Map 104, Parcel 030, District 3]. *  
15.Request by Howard McMichael, agent for Lick Creek Holding's LLC to 

rezone 21.40 acres on Collis Road from AG-1 to RM-3. [Map 104, Parcel 

032001, District 3]. * 
16.Request by Howard McMichael, agent for Mallard's Overlook, LLC to 

rezone 29.58 acres on Collis Road from AG-1 to RM-3. [Map 104, Parcel 032, 
District 3]. * 

17.Request by Howard McMichael, agent for Oconee Overlook, LLC & Lick 

Creek Holding's LLC to rezone 3.5 acres on Collis Road from R-1 to RM-
3. [Map 104, Parcel 033, District 3]. * 

18.Request by Howard McMichael, agent for Oconee Overlook, LLC to rezone 
0.63 acres/27,298 sq. ft. on Doug Lane from R-1 to RM-3. [Map 104B, Parcel 
001, District 3]. *  

 
Motion to approve the request by Howard McMichael, agent for Oconee 

Overlook, LLC & Lick Creek Holding's LLC to rezone 2.14 acres on Collis Road 
from R-1 to RM-3, and by Howard McMichael, agent for Lick Creek Holding's 

98



LLC to rezone 21.40 acres on Collis Road from AG-1 to RM-3, and Howard 
McMichael, agent for Mallard's Overlook, LLC to rezone 29.58 acres on Collis 

Road from AG-1 to RM-3, and Howard McMichael, agent for Oconee Overlook, 
LLC & Lick Creek Holding's LLC to rezone 3.5 acres on Collis Road from R-1 to 

RM-3, and Howard McMichael, agent for Oconee Overlook, LLC to rezone 0.63 
acres/27,298 sq. ft. on Doug Lane from R-1 to RM-3 with the following conditions:  

1. To restrict the available uses of the property as follows: 

a. Hotel 

i. The hotel shall substantial conform to the submitted scaled 
conceptual plans and renderings submitted in support of the 
proposed rezoning application, to include the buildings, 

ingress and egress improvements, and other structures; 

ii. No more than ten percent (10%) of the total number of 
guest rooms may contain stoves, conventional ovens or full-
size refrigerators (larger than 11.5 cubic feet).  No more 

than ten percent (10%) of the total number of guest rooms 
shall be rented or leased by the same person for continuous 

periods in excess of ten (10) days; 

iii. Buildings shall be constructed of brick and/or stacked stone 
on all sides.  The hotel building may utilize contrasting 
architectural metal panels or accents; 

iv. Not to exceed the proposed total of 175 room as stated in 
the application. Any increase beyond this total will require 

approval from the Board of Commissioner; 
  

2. The application of green infrastructure (bioswales/biorention, etc) in 
combination of water quality retention ponds, will require implementation 
to minimize the negative effects of imperviousness and stormwater runoff 

to the water quality of Lake Oconee. The Georgia Stormwater Manual will 
be applied to the project under review. The manual’s water quality 

template will be used to assess the various water quality BMP options.  
  

3. Provide at least one 3-inch caliper tree per 3 parking spaces. Trees shall 

be placed in tree islands within the footprint of the parking lot. Location of 
trees shall be determined by the county during the site development 

review (LDP phase). Provide two – 3-inch caliper trees per 100 feet on the 
shoulder of all roadways within the development. Trees to be placed on 

both sides of all internal roads. Specific location of the trees adjacent to 
the internal roads to be determined by the county during the site 
development review process. These tree plantings shall not preclude the 

developer from installing additional vegetation as he/she deems 
appropriate. 

  
4. Provide a 25-foot-wide densely planted landscape buffer along the 

property line on Doug Lane and where the property abuts residential 

parcels on Collis Marina Road. The additional plantings shall provide a 
75% buffer within 3 years of planting. Landscape plan and species to be 

approved during the development review phase. 

99



  
5. Emergency exit required on Collis Marina Road. Emergency exit shall not 

be paved. “Grass Crete” or similar product shall be used as the surface 
treatment for this access. A removable bollard (s) or similar barrier shall 

be used with only emergency services being provided entryway   
  

6. Preserve a 20’ non-buildable strip along the Collis Road frontage 

measured from edge of right-of-way.  The purpose of this condition is for 
future county acquisition as right-of-way. 

  
7. A minimum of 65 feet building setback from Lake Oconee will be required. 

This includes all structures and stormwater management facilities. 

Walkways/paths and boat docks are excluded from this setback 
requirement.   

  
8. Development shall have only one (1) vehicular access. Access shall be 

from Collis Road. 

  
9. Map 104, parcel 030, map 104 parcel 032, map 104 parcel 032001, map 

104, parcel 033 and map 104 B, parcel 001, must be combined and 
cannot be used or sold as a standalone parcel.    

 
10.This rezoning shall be conditioned upon the resurveying and recordation 

of the plat as stated in Section 66-165 (e)(3) of the Putnam County Code 

of Ordinances  
 

Made by Member Farley, Seconded by Chairman Marshall 
Voting Yea: Chairman Marshall, Member Farley 
Voting to Abstain: Member Hill (conflict of interest) 

 

100



File Attachments for Item:

12. Request to begin process to abandon a portion of Little-Minton Road (BW)

101



102



ROAD ABANDONMENT CHECKLIST 

 
Name of Road ___________________________________________ 
 

When there is a request to abandon a county road the following steps must be followed: 

 

1. The Board of Commissioners must approve beginning the process at a regular board meeting. 

 

Completed   Date ____________________________ 

 

2. A “Notice of Intent to Abandon A County Road” must be published in the legal organ of the 

county for two weeks. 

 

Completed   Dates ____________________________ 

 

3. Post signs at each end of the road proposed to be abandoned. 

 

Completed   Date ____________________________ 

 

4. Public hearing is held. 

 

Completed   Date ____________________________ 

 

5. Board of Commissioners approves Certification of Road Abandonment at a regular board 

meeting.  

 

Completed   Date ____________________________ 

 

a.  A copy of the certification and plat is mailed to the property owner(s). 

 

Completed   Date ____________________________ 

 

b.  A copy of the certification and plat is published in the county’s legal organ for two 

weeks. 

 

Completed   Dates ____________________________ 

 

6. Board of Commissioners declares road abandoned and authorizes Chairman to sign affidavit 

of abandonment at a regular board meeting. 

 

Completed   Date ____________________________ 

 

a.  County attorney prepares an affidavit of abandonment, to be executed by the 

Chairman, and files the same with the Putnam County Superior Court. 

 

Completed   Date ____________________________ 

Little-Minton Road (portion)

103



104



File Attachments for Item:

13. Authorization for Chairman to sign Memorandum of Understanding between the Board of Regents 

of the University System of Georgia by and on behalf of the University of Georgia Cooperative Extension 

and Putnam County (staff-CM)

105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



File Attachments for Item:

14. Authorization for staff to schedule a public hearing on proposed changes to the Putnam County 

Code of Ordinances - Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages) (staff-CC)

117



 

Putnam County Board of Commissioners 

Agenda Item Request Form  
 

 
DATE OF MEETING REQUESTED: __________________________________________________________  
 
REQUEST BY: ______________________________________________________________________________
 
AGENDA ITEM: ____________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________

 
AGENDA ITEM TYPE:  

      * 
 

______________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
*ACTION REQUESTED: ____________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION PROVIDED:     
 
BUDGET/FUNDING INFORMATION: _______________________________________________________
 
FACTS AND/OR ISSUES: ___________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

118



TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

EXPLANATION OF DOCUMENTS: 

 
Red language equals added text. 

Struck through language equals deleted text. 
 
 

Chapter 6: Alcoholic Beverages 
 

Sec. 6-31. - Requirements; excise tax.  

(a)  The requirements for all alcoholic beverage licenses are as follows:  

(1)  A separate license shall be required for each place of business.  

(2)  Any person, partnership, or corporation desiring to conduct a business to 

sell alcoholic beverages shall make application therefore on a form to be 
furnished by the board of commissioners, and in connection therewith shall, 

under oath, answer all questions, supply all information, and furnish all 
certificates, affidavits and other supporting data as required thereby. Any 
untrue, misleading or omitted statement or information  

contained in any such application shall be cause for denial or suspension of 
the license and if a license has been granted, shall be cause for revocation 

of the same. Each application shall be filed together with the payment of 

the license fee:  

a.  Where the owner of such business is an individual (a natural person), 
the application shall be made in the name of that person and shall include 

the complete address of that person, together with that person's date of 
birth and Social Security number.  

b.  Where the owner of such business is a partnership, the application shall 

be made in the names of all partners and shall include their complete 
addresses, together with their respective dates of birth and Social 

Security numbers.  

c.  Where the owner of such business is a domestic corporation lawfully 
registered and doing business under the laws of the State of Georgia, or 

any foreign corporation lawfully registered under the laws of the State of 
Georgia to do business in this state, it may be permitted to apply for such 

license in the name of the corporation as registered in the Office of the 
Secretary of State. The corporation shall provide the board of 

commissioners with the name of its agent authorized to receive service 
of process under the laws of this state and with the address of its 
registered office. The corporation shall also provide the name, complete 

address, date of birth and Social Security number of its managing agent. 
The managing agent shall be defined as the person who controls and 

manages the day-to-day operations of the business on behalf of the 
corporation.  

119



TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

d.  The written application for a license on file with the board of 

commissioners shall be a permanent record which the licensee must 
maintain current with correct information at all times. The failure to 

maintain a current license application shall be grounds for revocation of 
a license.  

e.  The board of commissioners may, in the exercise of its discretion, require 

a personnel statement that identifies any and all employees of a licensee 
for licensing purposes.  

f.  The license application shall require the disclosure of any conviction for 
any felony offense or any offense involving moral turpitude under federal, 
state or local laws of the person, any partner, the corporation, the 

corporation's managing agent, or any employee or proposed employee.  

g.  The license application shall require the disclosure of any conviction for 

any misdemeanor offense pertaining to the sale or illegal possession of 
alcoholic beverages, gambling, tax laws, controlled substances and/or 
dangerous drugs under federal, state or local laws of the person, any 

partner, the corporation, the corporation's managing agent, or any 
employee or any proposed employee.  

h.  The license application shall list the names of any persons having an 
interest in the operation of a proposed licensed premises or control over 
or ownership interest in such proposed license premises. Such persons 

must meet the same requirements as set forth in this article for the 
licensee.  

i.  If the proposed licensed premises is not in existence on January 6, 2010, 
the initial application shall include an accurate sketch or diagram showing 
the location of the building, the area thereof to be used, and the property 

lines of the real property where the licensee proposes to carry on the 
business of selling alcoholic beverages. The diagram shall also show the 

location of all churches or recognized places of worship and schools in the 
immediate area, and the distance between the property line of the 

proposed place of business and the property line of schools, churches or 
recognized places of worship as measured along a straight line.  

j.  The license application shall contain a statement as to whether licensee 

holds any other license for the sale of alcoholic beverages and the location 
thereof.  

k.  If the proposed licensed premises is not in existence or requires 
substantial renovation, the applicant shall submit a detailed set of plans 
and working drawings showing the exact location of the proposed licensed 

premises and the construction proposed to be carried out by the licensee 
and the anticipated time for completion of said construction or 

renovation.  

l.  As a prerequisite to the issuance of any license, the person, partners, or 
corporation's managing agent shall furnish a complete set or sets of 

his/her/their fingerprints to the board of commissioners. Said fingerprints 

120



TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

shall be obtained under the direction of the board of commissioners or 

their designee. The board of commissioners will request the Sheriff of 
Putnam County to obtain a fingerprint-based criminal history records 

check from the Georgia Crime Information Center and Federal Bureau of 
Investigation for purposes of determining the suitability of the 
individual(s) fingerprinted and to return an appropriate report to the 

board. Fingerprints shall be in such form and of such quality as prescribed 
by the Georgia Crime Information Center and under standards adopted 

by the Federal Bureau of Investigation. Any fees charged by the Georgia 
Crime Information Center or the Federal Bureau of Investigation to cover 
the cost of the records search shall be paid by the individual(s) 

fingerprinted.  

m.  In determining whether or not any license applied for hereunder shall 

be granted, the following factors, in addition to all other provisions of this 
ordinance, shall be considered in the public interest and welfare:  

1.  The person's, partners', corporation's, corporation's managing 

agent's, or employees' reputation, character, mental capacity to 
conduct the business, personal associations, record of arrest or 

reputation in any community in which they have resided or conducted 
business in, and whether or not they are likely to maintain the 
operation of the business in conformity with federal, state or local 

laws.  

2.  If the person, any partner, corporation, corporation's managing 

agent, or employees are previous holders of a license to sell alcoholic 
beverages and whether or not they have violated any law, regulation 
or ordinance relating to such business.  

3.  If the person, any partner, corporation, corporation's managing 
agent, or employees are a previous holder of a license to sell alcoholic 

beverages, the manner in which they conducted the business 
thereunder as it pertains to the necessity for unusual law enforcement 

observation and inspection in order to prevent the violation of any 
law, regulation or ordinance relating to such business.  

4.  Whether the person, any partner, corporation, corporation's 

managing agent, or employees have previously had a similar license 
suspended or revoked and the reason therefore.  

5.  The board of commissioners shall also give consideration to such 
other factors as may affect the health and general welfare of the 
unincorporated area of Putnam County, to include the type of license 

applied for, the effect that license will have on schools, public parks 
and churches in the area, the effect the granting of the license will 

have on existing land uses in the area, the character of the area and 
its peculiar suitability for the particular use sought, and the 
congestion of roads and streets. These items shall receive reasonable 

consideration with a general view of promoting desirable living 

121



TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

conditions and sustaining the stability of neighborhood property 

values.  

6.  When any application is denied or any license is revoked because of 

a decision by the board of commissioners that such license or 
application fails to meet any of the factors or requirements of this 
ordinance or in any case where such a decision was made because of 

the undesirability of the location itself, no application can be made 
again until at least one year has elapsed from the date the previous 

application was denied or revoked or, if that decision was appealed 
to any court, until one year after a final, unappealed or unappealable 
disposition was made of such appeal.  

n.  A license shall not be issued to:  

1.  A person or partner who is not a citizen of the United States or a 

legal resident of the United States, or any corporation whose 
managing agent is not a citizen of the United States or a legal resident 
of the United States.  

2.  A person, partner, corporation, or corporation's managing agent who 
has in Georgia or any other jurisdiction been convicted of a felony, 

unless said person has received a full restoration of their civil and 
political rights by the Georgia Board of Pardons and Paroles or the 
Federal equivalent thereof, or a person, partner, or corporation's 

managing agent is presently serving a first offender sentence 
pursuant to the Laws of Georgia for a felony offense.  

3.  A person, partner, corporation, or corporation's managing agent who 
has been convicted or pleaded nolo contendre or forfeited bond for a 
violation of any law or ordinance pertaining to the sale of alcoholic 

beverages, gambling, tax offenses, sale or possession of controlled 
substances and/or dangerous drugs or any offense wherein the 

person, any partner, corporation, or the corporation's managing 
agent knowingly used a licensed premises to facilitate the violation of 

any federal, state or local law.  

4.  A person, partnership, or corporation whose place of business is 
managed, operated or owned by a person acting as a mere nominee 

in an effort to circumvent licensing requirements of this ordinance.  

5.  A person, partner, corporation, or corporation's managing agent 

whose license to sell alcoholic beverages has ever been revoked by 
any licensing authority.  

o.  The board of commissioners shall revoke any license of:  

1.  A person, partnership, or corporation wherein the person, any 
partner, corporation, or corporation's managing agent is convicted of 

a felony offense of any federal or state law, unless said person has 
received a full restoration of their civil and political rights by the 
Georgia Board of Pardons and Parole or the Federal equivalent 

thereof, or a person, any partner, or corporation's managing agent is 

122



TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

presently serving a first offender sentence pursuant to the Laws of 

Georgia for a felony offense.  

2.  A person, partnership, or corporation wherein the person, any 

partner, corporation, or corporation's managing agent is convicted or 
pleaded nolo contendre or forfeited bond for a violation of any law or 
ordinance pertaining to the sale of alcoholic beverages, gambling, tax 

offenses, or the sale or possession of controlled substances and/or 
dangerous drugs, or any offense wherein the premises of the licensee 

was knowingly used by the licensed person, any partner, corporation, 
or corporation's managing agent to facilitate the violation of any 
federal, state or local law.  

p.  The board of commissioners may revoke any license of a person, 
partnership, or corporation for the violation of any provision of this 

ordinance.  

(3)  Applications for any alcoholic beverage license and renewal requests shall 
be made on forms furnished by the board of commissioners.  

(4)  No licensee shall sell or deliver any alcoholic beverages to any person 
except in such licensee's place of business.  

(5)  No licensee shall furnish, sell or offer for sale any alcoholic beverages, and 
there shall be no consumption on the premises, at any of the following times:  

a.  At any time on Christmas Day;  

b.  At any time in violation of a local ordinance or regulation or of a special 
order of the board of commissioners;  

c.  Within 250 feet of a polling place during the time period on any day 
during which any state, primary, general, local or special election is being 
held in the unincorporated areas of the county;  

d.  For retail package alcohol licensees, on any day before 8:00 a.m. or after 
11:45 p.m.;  

e.  For retail consumption on premises licensees, on any day before 8:00 
a.m. or after 1:00 a.m. on the succeeding day;  

f.  Pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 3-3-20, licensees may conduct their business on 
election days subject to the restrictions provided in this article.  

(6)  The sale of malt beverages, wine, and distilled spirits for consumption on 

the premises is authorized on Sundays from 11:00 a.m. 12:30 p.m. until 
12:00 midnight in any licensed establishment which derives at least 50 

percent of its total annual gross sales from the sale of prepared meals or food 
in all of the combined retail outlets of the individual establishment where food 
is served.  

(7)  Package sales of malt beverages, wine, and distilled spirits by retailers are 
authorized on Sundays between the hours of 12:30 p.m. until 11:30 p.m.  

123



TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

(8)  The business premises of the holder of a license shall be open to inspection 

during business hours by officers, agents, employees or officials authorized 
to conduct such inspections. The business premises of all licensees must 

comply with all applicable building, safety and fire codes.  

(9)  The making of any false statement on an application for a license under this 
article shall constitute grounds for revocation of such license.  

(10)  Licenses issued pursuant to this article shall be displayed prominently at 
all times on the premises for which such licenses were issued.  

(11)  No license shall be transferable or assignable to any person or other 
location. In the event that a licensed business is sold or closed, it shall be the 
duty of the new owner or occupant to apply for a new license.  

(12)  A license shall be valid only for the calendar year indicated thereon, and 
no such license may be automatically renewed. A licensee who desires to 

continue in business during the next year shall make a renewal request 
reporting all changes since the last application on or before December 31.  

(13)  No license shall be granted to any person unless such person is at least 

21 years of age and has been a resident of the state for a minimum of one 
year prior to the filing of an application for such license. In the case of a 

corporate applicant, the corporation shall have been in existence in the state 
for a minimum of one year, or the holders of more than 80 percent of the 
stock shall have been such residents.  

(14)  No licensee shall knowingly, directly or through another person furnish, 
cause to be furnished, or permit any person in such person's employ to 

furnish any alcoholic beverage to any person who is under 21 years of age, 
or who is noticeably intoxicated, or who is of unsound mind, or who is an 
habitual drunkard whose intemperate habits are known to the licensee. 

Proper identification regarding age shall be in accordance with O.C.G.A. § 3-
3-23.  

(15)  All licensees shall keep a copy of this article and appropriate state statutes 
and regulations on the licensed premises and shall instruct any person 

working there with respect to the terms hereof and all shall be familiar with 
the terms hereof. The licensee shall be held responsible for any acts of his 
employees in violation of this article or the laws of the state or the rules and 

regulations of the state revenue commissioner.  

(16)  The annual license fees provided for in this article shall be submitted with 

the application or request for renewal, and shall be paid prior to the issuance 
of any license.  

(17)  In addition to the annual license fees required in this article, there is 

hereby levied an excise tax on each licensee.  

(b)  The excise tax shall be the maximum provided by state law, and as defined by 

the Georgia Department of Revenue. Such tax shall be paid to the board of 
commissioners by the wholesale distributor on all alcoholic beverages sold to 
licensees in the county as follows: Each wholesale distributor selling, shipping, or 

124



TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

in any way delivering alcoholic beverages to any licensee, shall collect the excise 

tax at the time of delivery and shall remit the same together with a summary of 
all deliveries to each licensee on or before the tenth day of the month following. 

Such summary shall show the amount of excise tax paid. No distributor shall sell, 
deliver or ship any alcoholic beverages to any person in the unincorporated limits 
of the county who does not hold a current applicable license from the county.  

(Amend. of 2-18-2003; Ord. of 4-3-2009(2); Amend. of 11-30-2009(2); ; Amend. 
of 1-17-2012; Amend. of 4-17-2012(1); Ord. of 7-19-2016(1) )  

125

http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=784151&datasource=ordbank


File Attachments for Item:

15. Discussion and possible action on LMIG roads (staff-CM)

a. Approval of change in scope

b. Awarding of change order/revised scope to Pittman's contract for LMIG 2020

126



 

LMIG 2020 

Project Funding: 2020 LMIG + local match = $780,000 

Project Approach: Pittman Construction to perform the 2020 LMIG resurfacing as a change order to their 2019 TSPLOST contract 

provided their unit prices are less than their 2019 Contract unit prices 

Background: Pittman provided a quote to the County in April 2020 to patch and resurface the 2019 BOC approved 2020 LMIG 

project list. The BOC project list from 2019 was a follows: 
DISTRICT # NAME & MILEAGE (miles) NUMBER OF HOMES 

1 Shadow Lake Dr (.15) 7 

2 Texas Chapel Road (1.52) 12 

2 Dance Road (1.01) 2 

3 Ardennes Road &  
Woodhaven Dr.   (Tt. 83) 

41 

4 Bear Creek Road (.92) 49 

4 Parching/Resurfacing sections of Bark 
Circle/Willow Forest Dr/Willow Cove Ct 

35 

                                                                           PITTMAN QUOTE - $1,288,800 (April) 
 

Reduced project scope in June to approximate the available county funds of $780,000: 

DISTRICT # NAME & MILEAGE (miles) 

1 Shadow Lake Dr (.15) 

2 Dance Road (1.01) 

3 Woodhaven Dr.   ( .66) 

4 Bear Creek Road (.92) 

4 Willow Cove Ct (.01) 
 

PITTMAN QUOTE $680,844 
 

Utilizing the unit prices from Pittman’s quote, the following options exist to increase the project scope to approximate the available 

funding of $780,000: 

 

Option 1 Hickory Point 

Dr (District 1) 

Option 2 Arrowhead 

Trail (District 3) 

Option 3 Crooked 

Creek Bay (District 3) 

 

Ardennes Drive 
(District 3) 

To- From 

Parks Mill Rd to Cul-de-

sac 

South Sugar Creek Rd 

to Cul-de-sac 

Crooked Creek Rd to 

Cul-de-sac 

Normandy Road to 

cul-de-sac  

Miles 1.25 1.02 0.97 .17 

Estimated Cost $166,744.00 $132,706.00 $156,947.00 $87,000 

Pittman Revised Contract                                  
Amount for Each Option          $847,588                             $813,550                            $837,791                             $767,844  

127



128



129



File Attachments for Item:

16. Discussion and possible action on Cabins for Oconee Springs Park (staff-CM)

130



131



CONFIRMATION ORDER

Serial #:

Invoice:

13277

Plant:

Dealer:

Retail Customer:
Salesperson:

Page 1 of 1

6/19/2020

Order#:

Prod. #:

3  Legacy Housing Corp - Georgia

Legacy Housing, Corp.

Fort Worth, TX

Wilhoit, Greg

Model Year:Model:

Desc:

S-1234-11FLA Beds:

Baths:1.0

1

Floors:1399.05

Size:

Sq Feet:

*** INSULATION - 
 Thickness Area  Type  Area Thickness R-Value  Type  R-Value

SW SINGLE ROOF 7-7-19 ***

2.50 2.50FLOOR FIBERGLASS EXTERIOR7 FIBERGLASS 7

6.62CEILING BLOWN FIBERGLASS 19

Qty Part Description/Memo Price Color/Location

***TINY HOUSE EXTERIOR***

1.00 $0.00210.001 TH Hardie Fascia (Pick Color) Opt

1.00 $0.00210.003 TH Out Swing Door (Standard) Opt

1.00 $2,295.00210.009 TH 9' Porch Opt

1.00 Body: Olive Sawdust
Trim: Sycamore

$0.00210.010 TH Smart Panel (Pick Colors) Opt

1.00 $895.00210.014 TH Shingle Roof (Weathered Wood) Opt

1.00 Posts: Olive Sawdust
Pickets: Sycamore

$195.00210.017 TH Paint Pickets & Posts Opt

***TINY HOUSE INTERIOR***

1.00 $0.00220.018 TH Cabinets - Smokey Walnut Opt

1.00 $0.00220.022 TH Countertops - Ebony Fusion Opt

1.00 $0.00220.027 TH Flooring - Linoleum Stock Oak Opt

***TINY HOUSE PLUMBING & ELECTRIC***

1.00 $0.00230.0001 TH Refridgerator - 18' Black Opt

1.00 $0.00230.009 TH Metal Faucets China Sinks T/O Opt

1.00 $0.00230.021 TH Ductless Mini-Split AC System Opt

1.00 $0.00230.022 TH 20 Gallon Water Heater (Standard) Opt

***TINY HOUSE OPTIONS***

1.00 ($5,692.00)240.001 TH Wholesale Dealer Discount (22.5%) Opt

1.00 $0.00TH Storage Fees TH Storage Fees Surcharge Opt

***MEMO***

1.00 $0.00X10 BUYER'S USE OF GOODS. Opt

1.00 $0.00X11 Buyer agrees that the above-described
goods

Opt

1.00 $0.00X12 (the "Goods") will be used not as a
permanent

Opt

1.00 $0.00X13 dwelling, but as temporary living quarters for Opt

1.00 $0.00X14 recreational, camping, travel or seasonal
use.

Opt

2020

S-1234-11FLA 12 x 34 1/1

$21,295.00
($2,307.00)

SHIP VIA: 

$89.00

$19,077.00

CERT FEES
Tax:

FINANCE CO: *Legacy Housing Corp. (Consignment Div.) 

DEALER PO: 

DEALER AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE: 

132



File Attachments for Item:

19. Set Qualifying Fees for 2020 General Election (staff-CC/Fin)

133



 

Putnam County Board of Commissioners 

Agenda Item Request Form  
 

 
DATE OF MEETING REQUESTED: __________________________________________________________  
 
REQUEST BY: ______________________________________________________________________________
 
AGENDA ITEM: ____________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________

 
AGENDA ITEM TYPE:  

      * 
 

______________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
*ACTION REQUESTED: ____________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION PROVIDED:     
 
BUDGET/FUNDING INFORMATION: _______________________________________________________
 
FACTS AND/OR ISSUES: ___________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

134



135



File Attachments for Item:

20. Appointment to the Planning and Zoning Commission - District Four (staff-CC)

136



 

Putnam County Board of Commissioners 

Agenda Item Request Form  
 

 
DATE OF MEETING REQUESTED: __________________________________________________________  
 
REQUEST BY: ______________________________________________________________________________
 
AGENDA ITEM: ____________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________

 
AGENDA ITEM TYPE:  

      * 
 

______________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
*ACTION REQUESTED: ____________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION PROVIDED:     
 
BUDGET/FUNDING INFORMATION: _______________________________________________________
 
FACTS AND/OR ISSUES: ___________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

137



Applicants for Planning and Zoning Commission - District One                                                                6/30/2020

NAME ADDRESS DISTRICT

CURRENT 

OCCUPATION OTHER

APPLICATION 

DATE

John T. Mitchell Sr. 195 Lakeshore Drive 4 Retired

MS in Industrial 

Mgmt from Florida 

Institute of 

Technology; BS in 

Accounting from 

Florida State; Real 

Estate classes 6/11/2020

Page 1 of 1

138



PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
 

117 Putnam Drive, Suite A ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 

706-485-5826 

www.putnamcountyga.us 
 

 

N O T I C E 

 
 

The Putnam County Board of Commissioners is seeking an individual to serve 
on the Planning and Zoning Commission for District Four.  The individual 

selected will complete an unexpired term, ending December 31, 2020 and a 
full two-year term ending December 31, 2022.  The candidates should be 

dedicated, fair-minded, not self-serving, and willing to devote time for 
meetings several hours each month.  Within three months of their 

appointment, the member must receive 12 hours of training in zoning 

procedures and/or comprehensive planning conducted and/or sponsored by 
ACCG or the University of Georgia’s Carl Vinson Institute of Government or 

equivalent as determined by the Director of Planning and Development.  No 
member shall have any other position or office with the county.   

 
Interested persons should submit an application to the Putnam County Board 

of Commissioners, 117 Putnam Drive, Suite A, Eatonton, Georgia 31024.  
Applications will be accepted until the position is filled.  The board application 

form can be found on the county website at www.putnamcountyga.us (in the 
“How Do I?” section) or by calling 706-485-5826. 

 
 

06/18/2020 & 06/25/2020 
 

 

139

http://www.putnamcountyga.us/


2 year term                                                             Last Updated 6/30/2020 

Appointed by BOC (one from each district and at-large chair) 

(See Chapter 66, Section 66-150 of the “Putnam County Code of Ordinances”) 

Need to provide information to HR 

       

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 

 

 

MEMBER                                                      TERM EXPIRES   

    

Maurice Hill, Jr. (District One)*                 12/31/2020   

152 Horton Drive       

Eatonton, GA  31024 

(706) 485-5141 (work) 

 

Martha Harris Farley (District Two)      12/31/2020 

105 Cooper Drive 

Eatonton, GA  31024 

(706) 485-7131 (home) 

 

Tim Pierson (District Three)       12/31/2020   

103 Cody Circle       

Eatonton, GA  31024 

(706) 923-6332 (work) 

 

Joel Eric Hardie (District Four) RESIGNED    12/31/2020   

345 Twin Bridges Road                     

Eatonton, GA 31024 

 (478) 233-4808 (work) 

 

James P. Marshall, Jr., Chairman          12/31/2020  

104 Church Street        

Eatonton, GA  31024-3249 

(706) 485-6442 (home) 

 

*Filling the unexpired term of Fred Ward 
 

 

 

140



File Attachments for Item:

21. Appointment to the Putnam County Department of Family and Children Services Board (staff-CC)

141



 

Putnam County Board of Commissioners 

Agenda Item Request Form  
 

 
DATE OF MEETING REQUESTED: __________________________________________________________  
 
REQUEST BY: ______________________________________________________________________________
 
AGENDA ITEM: ____________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________

 
AGENDA ITEM TYPE:  

      * 
 

______________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
*ACTION REQUESTED: ____________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION PROVIDED:     
 
BUDGET/FUNDING INFORMATION: _______________________________________________________
 
FACTS AND/OR ISSUES: ___________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

142



Applicants for Putnam County Department of Family and Children Services Board                                                                 

6/30/2020

NAME ADDRESS DISTRICT BACKGROUND

APPLICATION 

DATE

Sandra C. 

Parham 291 Glenwood Springs Road, SW 1

Putnam County 

High School; 

Master's Degree 

from Georgia 

College; current 

member of DFCS 6/12/2020

Page 1 of 1

143



PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
 

117 Putnam Drive, Suite A ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 

706-485-5826 

www.putnamcountyga.us 
 

 

N O T I C E 

 
 
The Putnam County Board of Commissioners is seeking Putnam County residents who 

would be interested in serving on the Putnam County Department of Family and 
Children Services Board.  Appointed board members receive a $35.00 per meeting 
per diem; board meetings are held every other month.  Appointees must be from one 

of the following categories: pediatric health care providers, appropriate school 
personnel, emergency responders, law enforcement personnel, private child welfare 

service providers, alumni of the child welfare system, mental health care providers, 
former foster parents, or leaders within the faith-based community. 

  
The role of the county board shall be to protect the well-being of this state’s children 
while preserving family integrity.  County boards may review the administration of 

all welfare and public assistance functions for the county, including such programs as 
temporary assistance for needy families (TANF), supplemental nutrition assistance 

program (SNAP), employment services, child protective services, foster care, and 
adoptions, and shall report no less than annually the effectiveness of the county 
department’s provision of services, the needs of the community, and its 

recommendations for improved operations of the county department.  County boards 
shall serve as an active liaison and a link between the county department and the 

local community.  County boards shall support the overall mission of the Division of 
Family and Children Services of the department. 
 

Interested persons should submit an application to the Putnam County Board of 
Commissioners, 117 Putnam Drive, Suite A, Eatonton, Georgia 3102.  Applications 

will be accepted until the positions are filled.  The application needs to include a 
statement that you are not an elected officer of the state, county or any 
subdivision thereof, nor is a member of your immediate family an employee 

of the Putnam County Department of Family and Children Services.  The board 
application form can be found on the county website at www.putnamcountyga.us (in 

the “How Do I” section) or by calling 706-485-5826. 
 
 

06/18/2020 & 06/25/2020 

 

144

http://www.putnamcountyga.us/


5 year terms                                                            Last Updated 7/2/2020 

Appointed by BOC 

DEPARTMENT OF FAMILY & CHILDREN SERVICES 

 

 

 

MEMBER                                APPOINTED                     TERM EXPIRES   

         

 

Linda Cook          12/06/2019   12/05/2024 

110 Old Williamsburg Road 

Milledgeville, GA  31061 

706-816-6475 (home) 

706-485-5826 (work) 

 

Deck Jackson                        12/06/2019   12/05/2024 

113 Sequoia Court 

Eatonton, GA  31024 

 

Lucille M. Feldman     04/16/2019   04/15/2024 

206 N. Maple Avenue 

Eatonton, GA  31024 

 

Sandra C. Parham     01/21/2014   06/30/2020 

291 Glenwood Springs Road SW         

Eatonton, GA  31024 

706-485-7247 (home) 

706-473-3505 (work) 

 

Georgia Benjamin-Smith    12/06/2019   12/05/2024 

403 Willie Bailey Street 

Eatonton, GA  31024 

706-485-5332 (home) 

706-485-6856 (work) 

 

 

 

 

 

**See next page for member requirements** 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

145



5 year terms                                                            Last Updated 7/2/2020 

Appointed by BOC 

Senate Bill 138 – Effective 7/1/15 

 

• Terms of county board members are for five years and are staggered so that one term expires each 

year.  A board member whose term has expired may continue to serve until a successor is 

appointed. 

• Each board will have five to seven members who shall be appointed by the governing authority of 

the county. 

• Appointments to fill vacancies on county boards caused by death, resignation, or disqualification 

before the expiration of a term are made for the remainder of the term. 

• No person serving as a member of a county board of July 1, 2015, shall have such person’s term 

of office shortened by this subsection. 

• Board vacancies which occur for any reason, including but not limited to expiration of the term of 

office, shall be filled by new criteria. 

• No elected officer of the state or any subdivision thereof shall be eligible for appointment to the 

county board. 

• All appointments should be reflective of gender, race, ethnic, and age characteristics of the 

county population. 

• Public Assistance recipients may not be appointed to the board since the appointment would 

create an illegal conflict of interest. 

• As a matter of policy, the Division does not support the appointment of anyone who has 

immediate family members on the staff of the local office. 

• The governing authority shall ensure that all appointments made on or after July 1, 2015 are made 

from the following categories: 

o Pediatric health care providers 

o Appropriate school personnel 

o Emergency responders 

o Law enforcement personnel 

o Private child welfare service providers 

o Alumni of the child welfare system 

o Mental health care providers 

o Former foster parents 

o Leaders within the faith-based community 

• If the County Commissioners have a board member that they would like to reappoint, but who 

does not fit into one of the categories, they may send a letter to him explaining why it would be 

beneficial for that board member to remain on the board.  He will review these individually.  

These can be sent to: Bobby Cagle, Director, Georgia Division of Family and Children Services, 

2 Peachtree Street, Suite 19.472, Atlanta, GA  30303 

• The role of the county board shall be to protect the well-being of this state’s children while 

preserving family integrity. 

• County boards may review the administration of all welfare and public assistance functions for 

the county, including such programs as temporary assistance for needy families (TANF), 

supplemental nutrition assistance program (SNAP), employment services, child protective 

services, foster care, and adoptions, and shall report no less than annually and not later than 

December 15 of each year to the director of the Division of Family and Children Services of the 

department the effectiveness of the county department’s provision of services, the needs of the 

community, and its recommendations for improved operations of the county department. 

• County boards shall serve as an active liaison and a link between the county department and the 

local community. 

• County boards shall support the overall mission of the Division of Family and Children Services 

of the department. 

146



File Attachments for Item:

22. Recommendations for Appointment to the Central Georgia Region 5 Emergency Medical Services 

Council (staff-CC)

147



 

Putnam County Board of Commissioners 

Agenda Item Request Form  
 

 
DATE OF MEETING REQUESTED: __________________________________________________________  
 
REQUEST BY: ______________________________________________________________________________
 
AGENDA ITEM: ____________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________

 
AGENDA ITEM TYPE:  

      * 
 

______________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
*ACTION REQUESTED: ____________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION PROVIDED:     
 
BUDGET/FUNDING INFORMATION: _______________________________________________________
 
FACTS AND/OR ISSUES: ___________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

148



149



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

June 29, 2020 

 

 

Lynn Butterworth 

Putnam County Clerk 

117 Putnam Drive 

Suite A 

Eatonton GA 31024 

 

 

RE: Region V EMS Council APPOINTMENT RENEWAL 

 
Ms. Butterworth, 
 
It is my intent to continue to serve on the Region 5 EMS Council as long as the County Manager 
and The Putnam County Board of Commissioners feel there is a value of my involvement as a 
voting member. 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to give you my input on the request from council for 
reappointment or appointment of another to serve in this roll. 

 

Respectfully, 

 

 

Director Brad Murphey 

Putnam County EMS 

117 Putnam Drive 

Suite A, Room 137 

Eatonton Georgia 31024 

T (706) 485-1974 

 

150



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 

Tuesday, June 30, 2020  

 

Lynn Butterworth  

Putnam County Clerk  

117 Putnam Drive  

Suite A  

Eatonton GA 31024 

 

RE: Region V EMS Council APPOINTMENT 

  

Ms. Butterworth, 
 

I would like to announce my willingness to serve as a representative of 

Putnam County on the Region V EMS Council. I would be honored to 

represent Putnam County and its Emergency Services on our regional 

council. 

 

Thomas C. McClain  

Fire Chief 

Putnam County Fire Rescue 

Chief Thomas C McClain 

Putnam County Fire-Rescue 

117 Putnam Drive 

Suite A, Room 138 

Eatonton Georgia 31024 

 

T (706) 485-0469 

F (706) 485-9793 

tmcclain@putnamcountyga.us 

 

“Always Ready, Proud to Serve” 

151

mailto:tmcclain@putnamcountyga.us


File Attachments for Item:

23. Discussion and possible action on Retirement recognitions (staff-CC)

152



 

Putnam County Board of Commissioners 

Agenda Item Request Form  
 

 
DATE OF MEETING REQUESTED: __________________________________________________________  
 
REQUEST BY: ______________________________________________________________________________
 
AGENDA ITEM: ____________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________

 
AGENDA ITEM TYPE:  

      * 
 

______________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
*ACTION REQUESTED: ____________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION PROVIDED:     
 
BUDGET/FUNDING INFORMATION: _______________________________________________________
 
FACTS AND/OR ISSUES: ___________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

153



154



Employee Retirement Watches

Consumer Price Index
6/30/2020

10 Years 20 Years 30 Years

Original Resolution

1993 75.00$       125.00$     200.00$        

2007 108.00$     179.00$     287.00$        

2008 112.00$     186.00$     298.00$        

2011 117.00$     194.00$     311.00$        

2012 119.00$     198.00$     317.00$        

2013 121.00$     201.00$     322.00$        

2014 123.00$     204.00$     327.00$        

2015 124.00$     206.00$     330.00$        

2016 123.00$     205.00$     328.00$        

2017 128.00$     214.00$     342.00$        

2018 130.00$     216.00$     346.00$        

2019 132.00$     220.00$     352.00$        

2020 136.00$     227.00$     363.00$        

Time of Service

*The information above is found at http://data.bls.gov/cgi-bin/cpicalc.pl and adjusts for inflation (Favorites=Inflation Calculator)

CURRENT SYSTEM

155



Employee Retirement Recognition

Consumer Price Index
6/30/2020

10 Years 15 Years 20 Years 25 Years 30 Years

Original Resolution

1993 75.00$       125.00$     200.00$        

2007 108.00$     179.00$     287.00$        

2008 112.00$     186.00$     298.00$        

2011 117.00$     194.00$     311.00$        

2012 119.00$     198.00$     317.00$        

2013 121.00$     201.00$     322.00$        

2014 123.00$     204.00$     327.00$        

2015 124.00$     206.00$     330.00$        

2016 123.00$     205.00$     328.00$        

2017 128.00$     214.00$     342.00$        

2018 130.00$     216.00$     346.00$        

2019 132.00$     220.00$     352.00$        

2020 136.00$     180.00$     227.00$     293.00$     363.00$        

Time of Service

*The information above is found at http://data.bls.gov/cgi-bin/cpicalc.pl and adjusts for inflation (Favorites=Inflation Calculator)

PROPOSED NEW SYSTEM

156


	Top
	8.	2020-07-10 BOC Consent Agenda
	DRAFT 06-16-20 BOC Minutes
	Transit Procurement Manual Request Form
	Transit Procurement Manual 071020 highlighted version

	9.	2020-07-10 BOC Interest Waiver-Canal Wood
	Waiver of Taxes and Penalties-Canal Wood

	10.	2020-07-10 BOC P&Z Appeal-Culpepper
	Culpepper Appeal
	P&Z Minutes-Variance-Smith
	Culpepper Plat_revised 6-9-2020

	11.	2020-07-10 BOC P&Z Appeal-Wardlaw
	Wardlaw Appeal 062320
	P&Z Minutes-Rezoning-McMichael

	12.	2020-07-10 BOC Road Abandonment
	Little Minton Rd Abandonment Request
	Little Minton Road Abandonment Checklist
	Little Minton Rd Filed Plat PB 36 Pg 245

	13.	2020-07-10 BOC UGA Extension MOU
	MOU UGA Cooperative Extension

	14.	2020-07-10 BOC Chapter 6 Code Changes
	Chapter 6 Request Form
	Chapter 6 Sec._6_31.___Requirements__excise_tax

	15.	2020-07-10 BOC LMIG
	Putnam - 2020 LMIG Revised Scope for 780k - BOC Presentation
	LMIG

	16.	2020-07-10 BOC OSP Cabins
	Legacy quote Feb 2017
	Legacy quote June 2020

	19.	2020-07-10 BOC Qualifying Fee
	Qualifying Fees Request Form
	Qualifying Fees-District 4

	20.	2020-07-10 BOC P&Z Appointment
	P&Z Appointment Request Form
	P&Z Comm Chart of Applicants
	Planning & Zoning Commission-one district-unexpired and full
	Planning and Zoning Commission

	21.	2020-07-10 BOC DFCS Appointment
	DFCS Appointment Request Form
	DFCS Chart of Applicants
	DFCS Board-full term
	DFCS Board2

	22.	2020-07-10 BOC EMS Council
	Region 5 EMS Council Request Form
	Region 5 EMS Council Letter
	Region 5 council reappointment-Murphey
	Region V EMS council letter2-McClain

	23.	2020-07-10 BOC Retirement
	Retirement Recognitions Request Form
	Retirement Policy-Minutes 120793
	Retirement Watch Values
	Retirement Recognition Values

	Bottom

